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Chair’s introduction 

As the elected Chair of NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), I have been privileged to lead the CCG Governing 
Body on behalf of member practices during our first two years as a statutory body. 

As a ‘clinical’ commissioning organisation we bring a unique clinical perspective and 
patient focus to every decision we make. 

Key areas that the Governing Body has focused on during the year include : 

 Receipt, review and approval of a range of strategies

 A refresh of the CCG’s Clear and Credible Plan

 Commissioning Intentions

 CCG Operational Plans

We are committed to involving local people in decisions about the provision of 
healthcare for our local communities.   

We have continued to use a number of mechanisms to ensure patients and the 
public are given the opportunity to contribute their opinions about current services 
and future needs. Feedback from patients and the public on our commissioning 
intentions has shaped the focus of our work during the year and in the development 
of our Five Year Plan. 

Details of our successes and performance for 2014/15 are included throughout 
this annual report. 

Having identified a range of priorities that will address the legacy of ill health in our 
area, we are continuing to develop strong and lasting relationships with our local 
partners and stakeholders and are working together to address shared challenges 
and priorities. Key partners include Stockton-on-Tees and Hartlepool Borough 
Councils; our local Healthwatch organisations; North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust; South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and the North East Ambulance NHS Foundation 
Trust, as well as other key providers in the NHS and independent sector.  

We have continued to work with a range of community and voluntary organisations 
that are able to help us to reach out to those who are often overlooked or seldom 
heard. 

We consider collaboration with other CCGs as essential to addressing the many 
health and inequality challenges we collectively face across the North East. We are 
working with the CCGs across Teesside, Durham and Darlington in particular, 
combining resources to improve the quality of care in our region. 

The CCG received a letter from NHS England in March 2015 stating approval to take 
on joint arrangements with regard to co-commissioning of primary care services. 
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This means that from 1 April 2015 the CCG will be responsible for co-commissioning 
local GP services with NHS England.   
 
Our Annual Report 2014/15 sets out in detail how we have tackled our priorities and 
the progress we have made in improving health outcomes and patient experience.  
 
On behalf of the member practices, I commend this report to you. 
 
 
 
Dr Boleslaw Posmyk 
Chair of the Governing Body 
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Strategic report 
Chief Officer’s Introduction 

During our second year as a new commissioning organisation, we have been striving 
to serve our local people well by making a real difference to health services, patient 
experience and clinical outcomes. 

This report provides a reflection on the achievements we have made this year and 
describes the way we have governed our actions.  I am delighted that we continue to 
make significant progress in the delivery of our vision and aims. 

We describe in our Strategic Report how we are listening to local people, working in 
partnership with our patients and families, providers, co-commissioners and 
partners, and detail some of the new services and ways of working we have put in 
place to make a real and sustainable difference to patient care.  

Our decisions are focused on ensuring our communities are provided with the safest 
and best quality services possible. 

Our performance and financial overview provides an assessment of our 
achievements whilst highlighting some of the many challenges we have been, and 
are still, tackling in promoting healthy lifestyles and improving the quality of care for 
all patients. 

We have managed our resources appropriately and efficiently throughout the year, 
increasing investment in important services such as: Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services, Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies, Dementia and new 
services for carers. We have also developed out Better Care Fund plans ready for 
implementation in 2015/16, and continue to be in the forefront of new ways to 
provide services tailored to individual needs such as Integrated Personal 
Commissioning.  

As a CCG, we take our responsibilities for sustainability and equality and diversity 
very seriously and the report describes how we have focused on improvement in 
these areas. I have set out my responsibilities as accountable officer in the ‘annual 
governance statement’ which includes assurance from our auditors of the way we 
have conducted our affairs during the year. 

As I reflect on the past year, I can say that there have inevitably been highs and 
lows. It was with great sadness that we said goodbye to one of our valued members 
of staff, Louise Croce. Louise was a committed, young, enthusiastic member of the 
team, who selflessly gave her all to the CCG and we all deeply felt her loss when 
she passed away in September 2014, having borne her illness with great courage. 

I hope you find the report interesting and informative. Our achievements are a 
testimony to the hard work and dedication of my staff, those we work with from the 
North of England Commissioning Support Unit and our many and invaluable 
partners. 
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About us 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was 
established as a statutory body in April 2013 as a result of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012.  The CCG is responsible for planning and purchasing a range of local 
healthcare services on behalf of patients across the Hartlepool and Stockton-on-
Tees areas.  

The CCG represents all 40 GP practices across the two Boroughs and our 
population is almost 300,000. Our headquarters is in the heart of the communities 
we serve at Billingham Health Centre, Queensway, Billingham. 

We are a clinically-led membership organisation made up of all the GP practices in 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and we are committed to creating an accessible 
health service that provides safe, high quality care in the best place for our patients. 
We believe that good healthcare is everybody’s business and we are dedicated to 
developing effective working relationships with partners, stakeholders and the public 
to deliver joined-up healthcare that will benefit everyone. The services we are 
responsible for planning and commissioning include those that address: 

• Mothers and newborn children.
• Mental health.
• Learning disabilities.
• Emergency and urgent care.
• Routine operations.
• Long term conditions.
• End of life.
• Continuing healthcare.

The North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) provides a wide range of 
functions on the CCG’s behalf to enable us to deliver our duties and priorities. It 
allows us to draw upon experienced commissioning support from experts. Due to the 
size and geography that NECS covers, they are in a good position to advise us, keep 
management costs to a minimum and share best practice with us. 

Our vision 

Our strategic vision that has provided the focus for our work during 2014/15 has 
been: 

To develop outstanding, innovative and equitable health and social care 
services, ensuring excellence and value in delivery of person centred care 
working across both health and social care 
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Our aims 

 Work with our patients to promote and support healthy living and self-care.

 Involve service users, carers, staff, providers, partners and the public to
develop services and reduce health inequalities.

 Work in partnership to transform services and ensure transparency through
inclusion of all stakeholders to meet patient needs.

 Make use of and contribute to the evidence base that drives service
transformation, embracing opportunities to innovate.

 Commission sustainable services as close to the patient’s home as possible.

 Ensure services are safe, high quality and cost effective.

 Plan and respond to the identified needs at a locality level for the residents of
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees.

Our priorities 

In the Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees areas, health risks are high when compared 
with other parts of the country. We have higher than average rates of smoking and 
alcohol consumption and lower levels of exercise. Health inequality is also an issue 
across our region.  For example, there remain significant mortality differences 
between wards, and emergency admissions for heart disease are two–and-a-half 
times greater for residents living in our most deprived areas compared with those in 
more affluent neighbourhoods. 

In common with other areas of the UK, we have a growing elderly population, many 
of whom suffer from a range of long-term conditions. 

Set against these challenges, we worked closely with GPs, health professionals, 
stakeholders and the public to identify the following strategic priorities for 
improvement: 

 Bringing care closer to home

 Tackling health inequalities

 Caring for an ageing population

 Addressing our priority health conditions

 Improving quality in primary care

 Ensuring quality and patient safety

 Improving patient experience

 Seeking best value for money within budget

We have prioritised the following areas to reduce the negative impact of these 
diseases on the health outcomes of our population: 

 Cardiovascular disease – including heart disease and strokes

 Cancer

 Smoking related illness

 Alcohol related illness

 Mental health including dementia
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Working with our patients to promote and support healthy living, self-care and early 
intervention where this can deliver better health outcomes, we are: 

 Involving service users, carers, staff, providers, partners and the public to
develop services and reduce health inequalities

 Working in partnership to transform services

 Working transparently and inviting feedback to ensure we meet patient needs

 Driving service transformation and embracing opportunities to innovate

 Commissioning sustainable services as close to home as possible

 Planning and responding to the needs of residents

Listening to local people 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is committed to listening carefully to the 
views of patients, carers, the voluntary and community sector, and the general 
public, and acting on the feedback we receive. By contributing opinions about current 
services and future needs, the community can take a greater role in decisions about 
healthcare provision in the area. Over the year, we have encouraged local people to 
get involved in a variety of different ways: 

Patient participation groups (PPG) take place in our member practices and take 
different forms, from attending meetings to being part of a ‘virtual group’. These give 
local people a say on how their local GP surgery services could be improved. The 
CCG actively encourages practices to use their patient participation groups to 
comment on CCG ideas and initiatives. 

Public events: The CCG holds regular events which are open to the general public, 
stakeholders and partners. This year, we organised a series of meetings to discuss 
our commissioning intentions for 2015/16 and allow patients and stakeholders to 
have an input to these. 

MY NHS: By signing up to ‘MY NHS’ local people can influence decisions about their 
healthcare, receive updates about local services and will be invited to events. 

Governing Body and Annual General Meeting (AGM): We hold our Governing 
Body meetings and our AGM in public.  At each meeting we hold a ‘Question Time’ 
when members of the public can ask questions and make comments on items on the 
agenda. In addition, our Governing Body includes a lay member with responsibility 
for public and patient engagement who ensures that the interests of patients, the 
public and the community are included at the heart of discussions. 

Website: Our website includes up-to-date information on local news and campaigns, 
key documents and objectives. The website also promotes opportunities for local 
people to have their say via local events and surveys. 

Attendance at events: The CCG actively engages with local community and 
voluntary groups at local events, including local crime partnerships and welfare 
reform groups. 
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Digital communication methods: In 2014, the CCG launched a digital TV channel 
which is available through Sky channel 539 or Virgin Media channel 233 interactive 
packages and a downloadable smartphone application called ‘Looking Local’. It 
provides information about the CCG’s main services and has been developed to give 
the public an alternative means of accessing information and providing feedback on 
services. 
 
Communication and Engagement Strategy: Our Communications and 
Engagement Strategy provides the framework in which we aim to develop our plans 
for the future of the NHS in our local community, by building on the trust and 
confidence our communities have placed in us. 
 
Our challenge is to make sure that all healthcare is delivered to the right people at 
the right place, at the right time and to do this we listen to the insights of the people 
who receive that care. Our approach is simple:  
 

1. We ask for your views 

2. We listen 

3. We respond  

4. We act 

5. We tell you what we have done 

Regularly asking for feedback, advice and evidence from a wide cross-section of the 
public helps us make the right decisions.  We continually seek to improve and 
enhance the way we interact with our communities, partners and stakeholders.  
 
We have learnt that involving our communities early and regularly brings the best 
outcomes for everyone concerned. Catalyst (Stockton-on-Tees) and the Hartlepool 
Voluntary Development Agency are just two groups with whom we have worked 
closely to ensure that we hear the voices of all sections of our unique community. 
These groups have helped bring us closer to people we would otherwise have 
difficulty reaching through face-to-face events where diverse groups have felt 
comfortable sharing their views, experiences and concerns. Insights from charities, 
care groups, religious groups and minority groups help us better understand their 
challenges and brings a new perspective to often complicated issues.  
 
We seek advice from, and work very closely with, our internal and external 
stakeholders such as Healthwatch organisations, Health and Wellbeing Boards, local 
authorities, GP members and Members of Parliament as they not only bring a wealth 
of experience but are also able to bring a new perspective and sometimes an 
alternative more appropriate solution. 

 
Working in partnership 
 
We recognise that as a commissioning organisation we will achieve more for our 
patients if we work hand-in-hand with a wide range of other organisations with similar 
priorities and challenges. By working together towards shared objectives we can 
combine our expertise, knowledge and resources for the benefit of everyone. We 
work with a wide range of stakeholders including healthcare service providers, 
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neighbouring CCGs, Healthwatch organisations, Hartlepool Borough Council and 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council as well as community and voluntary 
organisations to ensure a joined-up approach to the provision and resourcing of 
healthcare in our area. The CCG is a statutory member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Boards in both Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and is involved in the development 
and implementation of the joint health and wellbeing strategies in both areas. 

Working with member practices and clinicians 
The CCG operates with the strong clinical leadership of local practices to 
commission and improve local services. Just as our clinicians’ experience gives us a 
deep insight into local health and care services, we recognise that users of these 
services, and the public play an equally important role in establishing the priorities 
we set and the decisions we take.   

GPs are central to organising and coordinating patient care; their clinical leadership 
brings real added value to the commissioning of local services. As professionals 
working on the frontline with patients every day, Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
clinicians understand the local health economy and are well placed to work with 
colleagues across health and social care to improve quality and outcomes for local 
people. Our GP members and clinical leaders are also attuned to their patients’ 
views and the choices they make in practice consultations.  

The CCG has two localities to reflect the needs of the two communities of Hartlepool 
and Stockton-on-Tees. Representatives from member practices come together every 
six to eight  weeks: 

 Hartlepool - chaired by Dr Mike Smith until October 2014 and from January
2015 to March 2015 by Dr Nick Timlin.

 Stockton-on-Tees – chaired by Dr Paul Williams.

The practice representatives from each locality have a responsibility to: 

 represent their patients’ needs.

 to ensure that local intelligence supports improvements within quality and
service provision.

 to ensure that they take leadership of their aligned workstreams and support
member practices to achieve the outcomes and ambitions.

We have communicated with all locality representatives when setting our ambitions 
and have shared the outcome ambitions with locality groups, GP practice member 
groups and practice manager groups. 

Working with local authorities 
During the year, we have worked with our two local councils to develop more 
integrated working practices. Together we have been creating local action plans for 
single pooled budgets for health and social care services as part of the Better Care 
Fund, which will come into full effect in 2015/16.  
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We continued with our memorandum of understanding with regard to Public Health 
support in a shared Tees-wide service. This has further developed our good working 
relationships and effective partnership working. 

The CCG is also a statutory member on the Hartlepool Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, Hartlepool Borough Council Safeguarding Adults 
Board, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Safeguarding Adults Board and the Tees-
wide Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Board.  These bodies are led by our local 
authority partners. 

Working across our local health and social care system  
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG; Hartlepool Borough Council; Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG; and the two main local health providers – North 
Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust, and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust, work together as part of the North of Tees Partnership Board to: 

 Oversee the successful development and delivery of the two and five year
plans including the Better Care Fund.

 Oversee, facilitate and guide associated projects.

 Oversee the successful delivery of the service changes that support the
delivery of the Momentum Programme and other required system changes.

 Maintain high quality clinical, community and social care services whilst
protecting the financial stability of the local health and social care economy.

 Co-ordinate and align all cross-organisational activities across the health and
social care economy aimed at delivering service change.

 Raise awareness in relation to issues that might impact on the strategy and
plans to deliver the programme of work.

 Agree contingency and risk management arrangements in the event that
planned schemes do not deliver to projections.

 Coordinate and share how decisions will be taken within each of our
organisations.

We will not be able to achieve the objectives of individual organisations or the shared 
priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy unless we focus on shared priorities, 
coordinate our efforts and align our resources across the economy and all 
organisations. This plan is therefore intrinsic to delivering our five-year strategic 
vision.  

Strategy Alignment  
The CCG is committed to ensuring that our plans align to the key issues and 
priorities identified within our partner organisations’ strategies and plans. We are 
working closely with elected members and other agencies in the Health and 

Wellbeing Boards and we scope and plan the way we commission services through 
the joint commissioning groups linked to the Health and Wellbeing Boards.  
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Health and wellbeing strategies  
The CCG works as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) for each local 
authority. The HWB is responsible for understanding the health and wellbeing needs 
of local populations and co-ordinating the NHS, public health and social care in 
collaboration with other local agencies.  

Given the constructive partnership that has developed through the establishment of 
the HWBs within Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees, there is a strong desire and 
commitment to further develop the partnership working that has been achieved to 
date and to build on this utilising some of the additional opportunities that the 
changes in national policy bring. 
 
Senior clinical leaders and the Chief Officer sit on the HWBs in each locality with 
Public Health colleagues and wider partnership groups.  This ensures that there is 
clinical and strategic awareness of the locality priorities which can be reflected back 
in the health and wellbeing workstream and the CCG plans.  

We have an agreed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for each locality based on 
our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment which clearly sets out our shared health and 
wellbeing goals.  We will look to build upon these strategies over the next five years.  

Working with local voluntary and community services 
We have established good working relationships with each of our local Healthwatch 
organisations, working together on a number of different initiatives throughout the 
year. Healthwatch are members of our locality meetings and will be represented on 
the CCG’s primary care co-commissioning joint committee when this commences in 
2015/16.  
 
As a CCG, we have formed collaborative and effective partnerships with our local 
voluntary organisations.  Within 2014/15, the CCG worked with local voluntary and 
community groups in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees to identify innovative 
healthcare initiatives.  We heavily invested in a range of activities delivered by these 
agencies and offered for example support to families with disabled children, 
providing access to allow sporting activities for disadvantaged groups and identified 
training programmes to improve mental wellbeing.  
 
Another example from central Stockton where the CCG is working in collaboration 
with our Public Health colleagues, aims to improve the health and well-being of 
women with young children. This has been led by fully trained female instructors, 
allowing women to feel comfortable taking part in the activities, ultimately increasing 
rates of participation. Particular focus was upon encouraging physical activity and 
helping local families to improve their eating habits. Assistance was also offered in 
relation to making healthy lifestyle choices. 
 
In Hartlepool, the CCG offered support and investment funding to voluntary sector 
organisations in order to deliver a range of projects. Designed to directly impact upon 
health and social care and/or work to improve health and wellbeing and reduce 
inequality.   The following two examples demonstrate how the investment is being 
utilised: 
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1. Epilepsy Outlook provides a service to people suffering with this long term 
condition. Incorporated within this service are individuals who also endure 
other co-morbidities such as learning disabilities and mental health conditions. 
The service offers support and guidance to their carers, and allows both 
clients and carers to meet in a supportive environment, whereby they can 
participate in activities to stimulate individuals who otherwise would be socially 
isolated. The services enable people to feel supported in the management of 
their condition and enhance the quality of life for carers which includes drop-in 
sessions and awareness training. 

 

2. The Families First Programme provides a regular luncheon club aimed at 
people over the age of 60. The main purpose of the programme is to offer 
opportunities to meet new friends and reduce social isolation. This includes 
signposting to services and support which contributes to preventing older 
people from having to be readmitted to hospital and allows them to live 
independently.  The service aims to identify and refer people showing early 
signs of dementia or memory loss onto other services.  The aspiration is to 
prevent loneliness and social isolation in older people, helping recovery from 
episodes of ill health or following injury.  During this year 79 people, aged 
between 57 and 90 have benefited with 551 attendances at sessions on Falls 
Awareness, Bowel Cancer Screening, and Dementia Friends Awareness. 

 
Provider plans  
Our provider organisations are of critical importance in delivering our vision for the 
future of hospital, primary and community care. We require a commitment to drive 
service transformation, build on existing care planning, care co-ordination and risk 
stratification across multi-disciplinary teams to ensure an integrated approach. When 
acute hospital care is provided, this will be delivered in the best possible facilities 
with highly skilled staff to manage the needs of our population.   

We work very closely with our major Foundation Trusts including North Tees and 
Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust; South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; and 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. South Tees provides some of 
our general acute services but also a number of specialist services and Tees, Esk 
and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust provide inpatient and community mental 
health services. 

North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust  

North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust provides the majority of acute and 
community services to our population and share our vision to transform secondary 
care services as part of a whole system change.  

The Momentum: Pathways to Healthcare programme has been the blueprint for this 
transformation for the last five years. This is the means by which the Trust and local 
health community partners will reconfigure services to deliver safe, high quality, 
efficient and effective health services for the local population, reflecting both the 
expectations of the patients, and local and national initiatives which define the 
expectations on NHS provider organisations. This continues to provide the 
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philosophy for the health and social care economy as closer integration is 
introduced. 
 
Working across Teesside and the North East 
 
NHS England North East and Cumbria sub-regional team 
 

The CCG works collaboratively with NHS England to ensure alignment with the 
CCG’s two year and five year plans.  
 
Key priorities identified in the primary care operational plan that can be aligned with 
our vision and plans are:  

 Implement the named accountable GP for over 75s.  

 Implement Friends and Family Test in primary care.  

 Work with CCG and Local Medical Committee (LMC) to develop an 
effective measure of GP primary care access.  

 Maintain focus on access and patient satisfaction of dental services.  

 Work with the dental Local Professional Network (LPN) to review urgent 
dental care access.  

 Increase hospital initiated referral to community pharmacy.  

 Work with the pharmacy LPN and CCG to develop joint aspirations for 
primary  care pharmacy.  

 Work with the optometry LPN to support development of eye health in 
primary, secondary and social care to support service integration.  

 Improve access for sight tests for hard to reach groups. 
 
Key priorities identified in the health and justice commissioning plan that can be 
aligned with our vision and plans are:  

 Liaise with CCGs to improve access to hospice care for offenders  

 Roll out Friends and Family Test in offender health services  

 Support provider service improvement in care planning for offenders with 
long-term conditions  

 Determine and secure pathways into community learning disability services.  
 
Key priorities identified in the public health commissioning operational plan that can 
be aligned with our vision and plans are:  

 Working together to agree joint approaches to understand and reduce 
variation in the level of screening and immunisation across practices  

 Working together to give consistent health promotion messages on 
prevention and early diagnosis  

 Work with partners in locality-led work linked to Health and Wellbeing 
Strategies to deliver a more joined up approach to support breast feeding, 
healthy eating, exercise and oral health 

 
The CCG will work with our member practices to assist with the NHS England sub 
regional team plans and will also align this to our work with the Better Care Fund 
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(BCF) to ensure better integration of acute primary, community and social care 
services to ensure care delivery wherever possible takes place in or closer to home.  

In March 2015, NHS England approved proposals for the CCG to jointly co-
commission primary care. This will support the CCG to deliver its vision to develop 
an innovative approach for the delivery of sustainable primary care that is wider than 
a health-care based solution by working in an integrated way.  Joint commissioning 
will be the platform we build upon to deliver new models of care. 
 

Improving services 
 

Urgent Care and System Resilience  
 
Urgent and Emergency Care Services provide life-saving and life-changing care for 
patients who need medical help quickly and unexpectedly. Nationally Accident and 
Emergency departments are under increasing pressure and we continue to work to 
improve and refine our local systems.  
 
We have worked with all of our key stakeholders to review our current pathways of 
care, identifying potential areas for improvements in both Hartlepool and Stockton-
on-Tees. We have invested in differing clinical pathways in primary and secondary 
care to allow patients to be treated in the most appropriate settings, whilst promoting 
safe and effective delivery of care. 
 
We obtained additional funding to aid pressures during the winter period where 
demand for services increases due to inclement weather and winter illnesses, in 
particular for frail elderly patients. We implemented a number of successful schemes 
to help alleviate pressures upon services, including: 
 
Seasonal Ailment Scheme 
This scheme provided a temporary service over the winter months at a number of 
pharmacies in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees for patients to access for seasonal 
ailments such as coughs, colds and sore throats.  Over 800 patients used this 
service during the winter months which allowed GP appointments to be used for 
patients requiring medical assessment. 
 
See and treat model in A&E 
We provided an increase in consultant cover in our local A&E department to allow 
rapid assessment of patients in A&E. This allowed those patients with minor ailments 
to be treated in a timely manner, whilst those patients with significant injury were 
focused on. Ultimately, this resulted in a decrease in waiting times, increasing patient 
satisfaction and giving a positive patient experience.  
 
Streaming Nurse A&E 
An experienced senior A&E nurse assessed all patients entering into the A&E 
department at the busiest times. The nurse was able to identify the most appropriate 
service to deal with the patient and redirect accordingly to a GP or Walk-in-Centre. 
This helped reduce pressures in the department allowing doctors to see and treat 
patients that were critically ill.  
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Increasing Ambulatory Care opening times 
The unit provides medical assessment for those patients assessed to require further 
investigation by a GP or an Out of Hours GP provider. This allows patients direct 
access to an assessment unit rather than attending an A&E department. The 
provision is normally between 9am-10pm; however, through investment we were 
able to increase the opening hours until 12 midnight. 

Increased support staffing 
Additional personnel within pharmacy, paediatrics and phlebotomy, allowed patients 
to be discharged from hospital in a timely manner.  

Keep Calm Winter Campaign 

For the second year running the Keep Calm Winter campaign urged local people to 
‘Keep calm and look after yourself’ to combat the usual winter coughs, colds, aches 
and ailments that are common in usually healthy people.  The collaborative 
campaign was launched during Self Care Week 17 – 23 November 2014.  

The campaign lasted six weeks and used a variety of media attempting to reach 1.9 
million, which equates to 73% of the north-east population having seen or heard the 
campaign.   

Mental Health 

Strategy 
The Governing Body approved the Mental Health Strategy in January 2015 following 
a period of development which engaged stakeholders, service users and clinicians in 
considering how services and patient experience could be improved.  

For children, the strategy has been developed and aligned to a Tees-wide approach. 
This has been based upon national and key drivers, reflecting partnership 
working.  There has been significant investment into the Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Service (CAMHS) to make it easier to refer to the service and 
minimise barriers to access.  The intent is to reduce admissions for self-harm and 
improve access to services addressing sensory processing disorder.  

For adults, the intent is to implement ‘Parity of Esteem’ between physical and mental 
health by developing current service reconfiguration to improve access to 
Psychological Therapies and become more of a recovery model. 

We are working with both Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Borough Councils to 
develop Local Implementation Plans for the National Strategy – No Health Without 
Mental Health. This work will continue during 2015/16.  

Dementia Strategy 
With an aging population it is expected that in five years the numbers of people with 
dementia will significantly increase. We are planning to ensure that services and 
capacity are available to respond to this. The strategy which we have developed 
draws upon the concept of the ‘Dementia Journey’, described by Dementia 
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Partnerships UK.  The Dementia Journey helps focus thinking on the way dementia 
affects people at various stages and how support needs vary from stage to stage. 

One per cent of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees residents, equating to 3,400 
people have been diagnosed with dementia.   

Improvements in Dementia Diagnosis 
Ensuring we are aware of all of those who have dementia is critical to the delivery of 
the right care at the right time to help people and their families deal with dementia. 
We have already increased the dementia diagnosis rate from 67% at the start of 
2014/15 to 77% in January 2015.  The Dementia Strategy supports practices and 
highlights dementia identification and care during GP attendances.  We are now 
investigating ways to compare GP practice dementia registers with cases of 
dementia that are known to nursing homes to further improve the quality of the 
dementia register. 

In line with the National Dementia Strategy, we are continuing to improve the local 
system so people affected by dementia:- 

 Know where to go for help.

 Know what services they could expect.

 Seek help early for problems with memory.

 Get high-quality care and an equal quality of care wherever they live.

 Are involved in decisions about their care.

To achieve this, we are committed to working in partnership with a range of 
colleagues from each local authority; Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust; primary care; voluntary and community sector, and service users.   

Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat 
The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat, which was announced in December 2014, 
is part of a national scheme designed to improve the outcomes for people 
experiencing mental health crisis. Health services, police and our two local 
authorities have all shown commitment to support the concordat. 

The concordat will see increased collaborative working between all of our local 
providers, to ensure that those people in a crisis are safe and will be offered 
assistance and redirected into the most appropriate service, regardless of whom 
they access first for help. The aim is to provide a service to these individuals before 
a crisis emerges or develop personal support plans to help them manage their 
conditions and ultimately be safe. 

This commitment by our local providers has already seen the development of a 
mental health crisis assessment centre based at Roseberry Park Hospital, to support 
the work of the mental health crisis response teams and a mental health crisis 
service for children and young people.  A copy of the declaration can be viewed 
online at: http://www.crisiscareconcordat.org.uk/explore-the-map/ 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/cleveland-mental-health-crisis-care-concordat/
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Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 
In Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees we have improved access to talking therapies. 
One in four of us will experience problems with our psychological (mental) wellbeing 
at some point in our lives. Problems like mild depression, anxiety, stress, panicking, 
nervousness, isolation and loss of sleep can make it hard for us to cope with daily 
life. 

Talking can help people work out how to deal with negative thoughts and feelings 
and make positive changes. We are working with a number of local experienced 
organisations that GPs can refer patients to or patients can self-refer. 

There are six providers of talking therapies who are part of the scheme.  Information 
on providers and waiting times can be found at www.wecantalk.org making it easy 
for patients to choose the most appropriate appointment for them. The providers 
work with patients to explore the problems they are facing and identify how best to 
deal with them. Healthwatch are also promoting our six IAPT providers including at 
their recent Springwatch event. 
 
As a CCG, we have invested in developing IAPT promotional flyers and contact 
cards. All GP practices, community pharmacies, local employers, libraries, amongst 
others have received promotional resources. In addition to this, public health teams 
such as health trainers, smoking cessation teams, drug and alcohol services and 
housing teams have also been offered information for their clients. 
 
A Tees-wide promotional event was undertaken in January 2015, for eight weeks 
highlighting services available for patients to access. This involved advertising in 
local evening papers and websites, social media networks, on local radio stations 
and bus station advertising. 
 
The promotional work has helped to raise the profile of IAPT services and it is 
anticipated that prospective data will reflect an increase in referrals. There is also an 
expectation that patients will be self-referring at an earlier stage, which we expect to 
improve outcomes for patients. 
 
Perinatal Mental Health Services 
Perinatal mental health services are concerned with the prevention, detection and 
management of mental health problems that complicate pregnancy and up to one 
year after birth. Promoting emotional and physical wellbeing and development of the 
infant is pivotal to perinatal mental health services. Perinatal mental health problems 
include a range of disorders and severities which present in a variety of health 
settings and are currently managed by many different services.  
 
As a CCG, we have commissioned a Community Perinatal Mental Health service 
with a dedicated team of specialist clinicians to deliver a service to meet the 
requirements of mothers and infants in a community setting without undue delay, 
maintaining and promoting good mental health throughout their pregnancy and 
postpartum year. 
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Learning Disabilities 
The Learning Disability Transformation Programme aims to support people with 
severe learning disabilities to enjoy life in a community setting rather than within a 
hospital ward. As part of this, we have progressed a pilot service focusing upon an 
expansion of the Community Learning Disability Service.  We have worked in 
collaboration with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust with the 
ultimate aim of providing seven day services in the community. The service 
enhancement will build upon the existing community model, providing increased 
intensive support to people and will have the flexibility to operate extended hours, 
over seven days per week, intensifying the level, type and duration of interventions 
within people’s home environment. 

The service will work in partnership with independent sector providers, carers and 
families in the delivery of timely, bespoke response to individual needs via specialist 
health treatments and interventions and to reduce the need for inpatient admissions 
and is very focused on prevention and early intervention.   

The key outcomes to the service are aligned with the National Transforming Care 
agenda and are aimed at reducing the reliance on admitting patients to hospital and 
the associated difficulties in achieving a timely discharge by shifting expertise and 
capacity from inpatient to community settings. The increased resource will allow staff 
to work with people and providers to offer wider skills and support.  

Integrated Personal Commissioning Pilot 
As a CCG, and in conjunction with Stockton Borough Council and Catalyst we have 
been selected to be an Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) pathfinder.  

This means that patients who are over 65 with long-term health conditions in 
Stockton-on-Tees will be offered the opportunity to have greater control over their 
own personal health and care budgets.  For the first time there will be a blending of 
comprehensive health and social care funding for individuals, allowing them to direct 
how it is used.  

The aim of IPC is to help people with complex needs and their carers to have a 
better quality of life and achieve the outcomes that are important to them and their 
families. It encourages self-management and will enable support to be designed 
around individual needs and circumstances and prevent the crises in people’s lives 
that lead to unplanned hospital and institutional care. 

The benefits are that patients will be given greater power and support to shape their 
own care and it will be easier for the NHS, local authorities and providers to work 
together and be flexible for the benefit of patients. The voluntary sector will be a key 
partner in designing effective approaches, supporting individuals and driving cultural 
change. 
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Frail/Elderly 

Integrating NHS services for the elderly 
In April 2014, we hosted a ‘summit’ primarily focusing upon how services can be 
improved for our vulnerable and frail elderly people.  Our main priority was to ensure 
that our most vulnerable patients have access to the right level of care to support 
their health and wellbeing. The summit brought together leading decision makers 
from the health, social care and voluntary sector as we recognised that integration of 
care is vital in addressing frail elderly people’s needs. We recognise that clinical 
pathways of care may need to be refined to maximise optimal care for our elderly 
populations.  

Frail Older Persons Strategy 
Following the summit, a five year ‘Frail Older Persons Strategy’ was developed by all 
key stakeholders. An implementation plan has subsequently been developed 
identifying key priorities for 2015/16, including: 

 Development of a screening tool to enable the development of a frailty
register.

 Defined Frail Older Persons Pathway.

 Emergency Health Care Plans for patients living in care homes.

Emergency Health Care Plans for Patients Living in Care Homes  
Working with our local acute providers, it became apparent that those patients 
residing in care homes are at times admitted to hospital as no defined care plan is 
available to our Out of Hours GP Provider. 

We have worked with our member practices to support the development of 
Emergency Health Care Plans (EHCP) for all patients in care homes. This enhances 
quality of care for the patient as it reflects their individual needs and wishes. The 
plan contains vital information about the patient and their health. 

The EHCP scheme demonstrated significant benefits including excellent feedback 
from patients, GPs and care homes.  There was also a 2% reduction in emergency 
hospital admissions and a 5% reduction in A&E attendances. 

Medicines Optimisation 

Electronic Prescription Service 
During 2014, 92% of GP practices in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees began to offer 
an Electronic Prescription Service (EPS).  EPS means that GPs can electronically 
send prescriptions to a pharmacy of the patient’s choice rather than having to attend 
the GP practice to collect. 

To nominate a pharmacy of choice patients can call into any pharmacy and complete 
the necessary forms.  This means that patients can choose for their prescriptions to 
be securely sent electronically from their GP to a pharmacy or dispensing appliance 
contractor (DAC) of their choice. 
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Benefits to patients of using EPS include: 

 Choosing a pharmacy that is most convenient, such as one near work, home 
or the weekly shop. 

 No trips to the GP practice just to collect prescriptions. 
 Shorter waits at the pharmacy as prescriptions can be prepared in advance. 

Those wishing to continue with paper prescriptions are able to do so.  More 
information about EPS can be found at: www.systems.hscic.gov.uk/eps   

All GP Practices apart from one are using the Electronic Prescription Service.  As at 
November 2014, 39% of prescriptions across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees were 
issued via EPS with individual practices ranging from 0-74%. 

 
Health and Wellbeing  
 
We recognise that whilst we are looking after the current health needs of patients we 
need to work with our partners to promote the longer-term health of the community. 
By sharing the information that will support patients to make healthier lifestyle 
choices we can reduce the numbers that will develop certain conditions or diseases 
– such as lung disease, diabetes or cancer.  
 
We have been working with our local partners to promote healthier lifestyles and to 
support the longer term wellbeing of all our patients. There are a number of 
commissioned services and community groups locally that provide services to the 
public and accept referrals from numerous sources. Our intention has been to work 
with our partners to identify these local services and share the information via our 
local NHS 111 Directory of Services. This will allow health professionals and other 
practice staff to provide information to patients on a range of services – housing, 
health, welfare, social and community - that can help contribute to their physical and 
mental health.  
 
We know that many of our patients have existing long-term conditions such as 
respiratory disease or diabetes that will require support. The best way for many 
patients to look after themselves and their independence is to make them feel 
confident that they can manage their own condition. We have therefore 
commissioned a number of support programmes for patients which they can access 
at various stages of their diagnosis and condition.  We are also aware that many 
practices also provide similar advice and support to patients on an on-going basis.  

Flu Campaign 
As a CCG, we supported the NHS Flu campaign encouraging those who were 
eligible for the free flu vaccination to take up the offer. It was predominantly targeted 
at those with long-term health conditions, pregnant women and parents of children 
aged 2-4. The message was promoted through planned media i.e. supplements in 
the Northern Echo as well as via the CCG website and e-bulletins to key 
stakeholders. 
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Diabetes 
We have placed great emphasis upon improving diabetes management and have 
developed a best practice care model that provides the best possible outcomes for 
patients.  This will be achieved through the provision of education, information, 
support and care so that patients can make informed choices and are also equipped 
with the correct skills to manage their own condition. 
 
‘My Diabetes’ information resource pack has been developed and distributed to all 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees practices for their newly diagnosed patients to offer 
advice and guidance. 
 
Our ultimate aim is to ensure patients do not develop diabetes related complications, 
therefore increasing their quality of care. 
 

Better Care Fund 
 
The Better Care Fund is a national initiative that is designed to enable transformation 
in integrated health and social care to ensure local people aged 65 and over receive 
better care.  NHS and social care services are now caring for people with 
increasingly complex needs and multiple conditions. There is consensus that to 
respond to this, care should be centred on individuals who need it through an 
integrated team approach working together to keep people better for longer.  
 
A key element of the Better Care Fund to making integration a reality has been 
through a single pooled budget agreement across the CCG and local authorities. 
 
To achieve delivery of Better Care Fund, joint plans were developed across partner 
organisations which were approved by local Health and Wellbeing Boards that had to 
meet the following requirements: 
 

 Plans to be jointly agreed. 

 Protection for social care services. 

 Seven day services in health and social care to support patients being 
discharged and prevent unnecessary admissions at weekends. 

 Better data sharing between health and social care, based on the NHS 
number. 

 Ensure a joint approach to assessment and care planning and ensure that, 
where funding is used for integrated packages of care, there will be an 
accountable professional. 

 Agreement on the consequential impact of changes in the acute sector 
setting.  

 
Approval of the Better Care Fund plans were given by NHS England following a 
national assurance process to progress to implementation from April 2015.   
The success of Better Care Fund plans for 2015/16 will be measured on how many 
people are supported at home rather than being admitted to hospital or residential 
care. Individuals who are admitted to hospital should experience a timely and 
coordinated discharge from hospital staying no longer than is necessary with access 
to reablement services in the community. People will experience an integrated 
service that is flexible and responsive enough to recognise the different needs of 
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individuals shifting from reactive unplanned care to prevention and proactive care. 
The Better Care Fund plans will also aim to increase the prevalence reporting of 
dementia within the population of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees. 
 
Local Better Care Fund plans include: 
 

 Co-located integrated health and social care teams. 

 Development of an integrated single point of referral 24/7. 

 Improvement in Dementia Pathways for individuals and their carers. 

 Development of an IT system that supports shared information  across partner 

organisations to facilitate better decision making at the point of delivery of 

care. 

 Increase use of assistive technology within the community setting to support 

individuals to remain in their own homes.  

Primary Care  
 
Improving quality in General Practice 
In 2014/15 the CCG strengthened the teams supporting GP practices to reduce 
unwarranted variation and improve quality in primary care. Each practice has a 
linked commissioning support officer who has access to a range of benchmarking 
data which helps identify areas where practices seem to have different outcomes to 
comparable practices. Working as a team, practices and commissioning support 
officers investigate the causes of variation, develop and implement action plans to 
address any issues identified and support changes in the use of healthcare 
resources to improve care pathways, patient outcomes and ensure the best use of 
resources. 

In addition to the established support team working with practices, the CCG 
launched a local Quality Improvement Scheme in 2014. This scheme incentivises 
GP practices to implement a development plan, aiming to improve the quality of the 
service they provide.  Practice and CCG clinicians met to negotiate and agree to 
work towards three indicators from a list of nine. This allowed practices to pick 
bespoke indicators to work in areas of greatest need for their patients whilst still 
contributing to the CCG’s overall strategic objectives. 
 
Better Care for at Risk Patients 
In 2014/15, the CCG developed the Better Care for at Risk Patients Scheme. This 
service is provided by our local GP practices and is designed to work alongside and 
enhance the new reducing avoidable emergency admissions directed enhanced 
service. 
 
32 practices signed up to deliver the two-year scheme to improve quality of care for 
our most vulnerable patients. Practices have put together additional packages of 
care for patients in care homes, patients over the age of 75 and patients 
experiencing mental health problems.  
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Workforce Development 
The CCG are committed to supporting the development of the local workforce. In 
2014/15, we focused our efforts on improving training opportunities for primary care 
nurses. Along with our partners at NHS England and Health Education North East, 
we engaged with our local nursing population to understand their current training 
needs and provided clinical input into designing bespoke training courses that were 
hosted by Teesside University. 
 

Securing Quality in Health Services  
 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is fully committed to seeking and sustaining 
quality care and services across health and social care. The Securing Quality in 
Health Services (SeQiHS) work (which builds upon the Acute Services Quality 
Legacy Project) will continue to drive this in relation to understanding the 
opportunities and challenges in achieving best-in-class levels of acute hospital 
services, within the likely financial environment and workforce constraints over the 
coming years.  
  
The SeQiHS report provides analysis and clinical recommendations, supported by 
wider workforce and economic modelling, with a focus on sustainable, high-quality 
care. It defines the highest standards of service quality we expect and identifies what 
factors are most important when considering the sustainability of services to meet 
these standards in the future. 
 
The implications of this work range from potential changes to be made to provider 
contracts through incorporating the agreed clinical quality standards, to potential 
service reconfiguration or new ways of commissioning services across County 
Durham and Tees Valley.  

It is clear from SeQiHS and the national seven day standards work, that this will 
require CCGs and NHS England to commission care and services differently and for 
providers to develop new ways of working in collaboration that will inevitably lead to 
a realignment of services. Commissioners and providers will clearly need to work 
together closely to take this work forward in a coherent way.  
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Our Performance 

Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality 
standard and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to 
manage performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work 
with internal and external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of 
action plans to mitigate these. This ensures improvements in performance are 
delivered. 
 
Throughout the year, reports are provided to our Governing Body setting out our 
performance against the agreed local and national measures. This ‘Quality, 
Performance and Finance Report’ describes how, in partnership with our providers, 
we are meeting the CCG’s commitment to ensure that the commissioning decisions 
and actions we take improve healthcare for the people of Hartlepool and Stockton-
on-Tees and ensure patients receive the highest quality of care. 
 
The bi-monthly reports can be found on our website in the Governing Body meetings 
section: http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/governing-body-meetings-
papers/ 
 
Key highlights of our performance in 2014/15 include: 

 Formal assurance from NHS England (via the national CCG Assurance 
process) confirming that NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is 
demonstrating on-going good performance and improvement against local 
and national measures including delivery of the NHS Constitution Rights and 
Pledges. We publish our findings from each quarterly assessment on our 
website. 

 Ensuring patients were seen within the target and timeframe of 18 weeks for 

consultant-led treatment.  

 Working with providers to ensure there are no mixed sex accommodation 

breaches. 

 Ensuring no patients were waiting more than 52 weeks from referral for non-

urgent consultant led treatment. 

 
Although the CCG has made significant improvement over the year and has received 
assurance from NHS England, we recognise the areas where we have failed to 
deliver on the expected outcomes. We have put in place a number of actions and 
associated measures, working with key stakeholders and partners to further improve 
our performance during 2015/16. The CCG is committed to delivering the 
requirements of the NHS outcomes framework and have ambitions to stretch further 
in these areas during 2015/16. 
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Key performance challenges during 2014/15 include: 
 

 Cancer 62 day referral to first definitive treatment - this indicator is recognised 
locally, regionally and nationally as being challenging to maintain.  However, 
the CCG will continue to work collaboratively with NHS England, Cancer 
screening network and providers to better understand cancer pathways and 
ascertain required changes to improve future performance 

 Incidence of MRSA - this indicator has a zero tolerance, we continue to work 
with providers undertaking root cause analysis of each incidence to put in 
place measures to prevent future failure 

 Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within eight 
minutes (Red 1&2) - All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of 
red 1&2 calls within eight minutes and to respond to 95% of red 1&2 calls 
within 19 minutes. The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(NEAS) provides ambulance services to the CCG.  Performance has been 
impacted by pressures across the whole system and in particular ambulance 
handover delays. Work continues with both NEAS and our local acute 
providers to address the issues and implement actions to improve 
performance within the area. 

 
The scorecard on pages 27-28 provides a dashboard which demonstrates the CCG’s 
performance against the NHS constitutional measures.  This information represents 
the most up-to-date validated information at this point of writing. 
  



NHS Hartlepool and Stockton Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 

 

Page | 27  
 

NHS Constitutional Indicators by month - HaST CCG 

Quality Indicator  
Operational 

Standard 
  Apr-14 May-14 Jun-14 Jul-14 Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15   14/15 

Referral to Treatment waiting times for non urgent consultant led treatment  

Admitted patients to start treatment 
within a maximum of 18 weeks from 
referral  

90% 

  

93.35% 94.34% 95.13% 94.06% 93.74% 94.01% 93.60% 92.90% 95.14% 91.60% 92.64% 93.54% 

  

93.66% 

Non-admitted patients to start 
treatment within a maximum of 18 
weeks from referral 

95% 98.53% 98.28% 98.54% 98.78% 98.47% 98.11% 98.30% 98.20% 98.14% 97.40% 97.77% 97.79% 98.20% 

Patients on incomplete non emergency 
pathways (yet to start treatment) 
should have been waiting no more 

92% 97.15% 97.12% 97.18% 97.09% 97.00% 96.86% 96.40% 96.60% 95.59% 96.20% 96.31% 95.57% 95.57% 

Number of patients waiting more than 
52 weeks 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Diagnostic test waiting times  

Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks 
and over 

1%   0.68% 0.59% 0.70% 0.59% 1.08% 0.80% 3.40% 2.40% 0.60% 0.80% 0.20% 0.20%     

Cancer patients - 2 week wait  

Maximum two-week wait for first 
outpatient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with suspected 
cancer by a GP  

93% 

  

91.00% 93.95% 92.30% 92.40% 92.40% 94.50% 96.50% 96.10% 93.78% 94.60% 96.30% 94.80% 

  

93.98% 

Maximum two week wait for first out 
patient appointment for patients 
referred urgently with breast symptoms 
(where cancer was not initially 
suspected)  

93% 82.50% 96.77% 91.40% 93.90% 93.30% 98.30% 95.60% 94.00% 97.56% 94.50% 96.60% 94.80% 93.74% 

Cancer waits - 31 days  

Maximum one month (31 day) wait 
from diagnosis to first definitive 
treatment for all cancers  

96% 

  

97.50% 99.23% 100.00% 97.40% 94.30% 97.90% 99.30% 99.30% 98.43% 98.10% 99.20% 99.20% 

  

98.29% 

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent 
treatment where that treatment is an 
anti-cancer drug regimen 

98% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 98.10% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 99.81% 

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent 
treatment where the treatment is 
surgery 

94% 94.10% 100.00% 100.00% 96.20% 96.70% 97.10% 100.00% 85.70% 100.00% 94.10% 100.00% 96.90% 96.95% 

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent 
treatment where the treatment is a 
course of radiotherapy  

94% 98.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 98.30% 100.00% 100.00% 97.62% 97.60% 100.00% 100.00% 99.10% 
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Cancer waits - 62 days  

Maximum two month (62 day) wait 
from urgent GP referral to first 
definitive treatment for cancer  

85% 

  

86.40% 79.16% 74.32% 77.50% 82.80% 80.00% 81.30% 79.70% 89.83% 76.00% 77.20% 81.90% 

  

80.23% 

Maximum 62 day wait from referral 
from an NHS screenIng service to first 
definitive treatment for all cancers 

90% 100.00% 75.00% 100.00% 94.70% 85.00% 96.30% 100.00% 93.80% 100.00% 100.00% 93.80% 87.50% 95.07% 

Maximum 62 day wait for first definitive 
treatment following a consultants 
decision to upgrade the priority of the 
patients (all cancers) 

N/A 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 66.70% 57.10% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 71.40% 100.00% 82.35% 

Category A ambulance calls 

Category A calls resulting in an 
emergency reponse arriving within 8 
minutes (Red 1&2) 

75% 

  

75.39% 79.10% 77.23% 71.02% 79.02% 75.40% 72.41% 71.63% 66.18% 74.61% 76.78% 74.07% 

  

74.25% 

Category A calls resulting in an 
ambulance arriving at the scene within 
19 minutes 

95% 95.83% 98.06% 95.79% 94.47% 95.85% 96.45% 94.47% 94.49% 93.04% 94.78% 96.12% 96.48% 95.44% 

Mixed sex accomodation breaches 

Minimise MSA breaches 0   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   0 

Mental Health 

Care Programme Approach (CPA): 
The proportion of people under adult 
mental illness specialities on CPA 

95%   97.40% 100.00% 93.55% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 95.00% 97.06% 83.33% 95.24% 100.00%   97.74% 

HCAI Incidence  

Incidence of MRSA to 4th March 2015 0 
  

1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 
 

2 

Incidence of CDIFF to 4th March 2015 123 6 9 10 11 9 7 5 3 10 8 3 7   88 
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Quality and Safeguarding 

Quality 
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that we commission safe, good quality and 
effective services that result in positive experiences for patients.  

We understand that securing continuous quality improvement in our commissioned 
services is an ongoing process and to ensure we remain sighted on all aspects of 
quality and are able to constructively challenge, scrutinise and assess individual 
provider’s performance and service delivery, we have established robust internal and 
external quality assurance mechanisms.  

These mechanisms are described in our Quality Strategic Framework which was 
refreshed and approved in June 2014. It outlines the CCG’s approach to quality 
detailing how it manages and champions the local clinical quality agenda to ensure 
compliance with the five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework, which can be 
summarised in terms of three core areas, clinical effectiveness, safety and patient 
experience. 

In order to effectively address quality issues with our commissioned services and 
seek assurance, we systematically undertake a range of activity. This activity informs 
and shapes the CCG Quality and Safeguarding (Q&S) annual Work Programme. 

As a result, our strategic priorities in relation to the Q&S programme of work in 
2014/15 have centred on:  

 Implementation of a comprehensive Francis Work Programme which
responds to the Francis reports I and II recommendations, whilst ensuring
adherence to any new national reports findings and guidance. This has
included in 2014/15 incorporating: culture change in the NHS, applying the
Lessons of the Francis inquiries (DH, Feb 2015). This Programme, approved
and overseen by the CCG will continue to be refined in 2015/16.

 Transforming Care, ensuring that patients in inpatient settings are safely and
appropriately discharged to community settings wherever possible. This has
involved the CCG working with NHS England in the implementation and
monitoring of a programme of work associated with clinical assessment
treatment and review processes and outcomes for individuals.

 Care Homes, this has involved working collaboratively with local authorities to
respond effectively to quality and safeguarding issues through a planned as
well as responsive programme of clinical quality audits. It has also enabled
close liaison with the Care Quality Commission, gaining an understanding of
their new inspection process and key lines of enquiry approach which
evaluates if services are safe, caring, responsive, effective and well led.

Each of the priorities identified have been positively progressed through proactive 
collaboration with partners. Monitoring, evaluation and scrutiny of these areas of 
work have been completed through implementation of the CCG Quality Strategic 
Framework.   
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In relation to the range of quality assurance activity undertaken by the CCG in 
2014/15, this includes face-to-face contact, listening to concerns, analysis of provider 
data and information, and the sharing of intelligence with relevant NHS 
commissioners, local authority organisations, Healthwatch and regulatory bodies. 
This is described as follows: 
 
Quality, Performance and Finance Committee (QPF) 
Their role is described within the annual governance statement later in the report. 
 
Clinical Quality Review Groups (CQRGs) 
In working with our four main NHS provider Trusts - North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust (NTHFT); South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (STHFT); 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWVFT); and North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEASFT) to monitor, evaluate and drive 
forward quality standards we have held or contributed to regular CQRG meetings 
involving CCG GPs and Trust clinicians. This enables productive dialogue and 
provides an opportunity for the Trusts to identify innovation, best practice, areas for 
improvement and evidence of increasing patient outcomes. It also enables the CCG 
through analysis of specific quality indicators, to gain an insight into the quality of 
care delivered to local people as well as share and promote lessons learned from 
other parts of the health economy.  
 
The CQRGs are action orientated and have sought to examine specific areas of 
concern through in-depth analysis and discussion.  
 
Site visit Assurance Programme  
An important part of seeking assurance from our providers is undertaking announced 
and unannounced visits to services which serves as a valuable opportunity to meet 
patients and their families as well as liaise with Trust staff.  
 
The CCG’s Executive Nurse has led this Programme and involved CCG clinicians; 
this is considered an integral part of the contract management and quality assurance 
processes.  
 
Prior to arranging the visit, intelligence is gathered from a range of sources to inform 
and identify and target the key service areas to visit including:  

 Soft intelligence from GP practices and patient complaints. 

 Quality Surveillance Groups chaired by NHS England. 

 Regular review and monitoring meetings as described above. 

 Regular liaison between the CCG Chief Officer and provider Chief Executives. 

 Regular communication between the CCG Executive Nurse and Directors of 
Nursing. 

 
 
 
 
 



NHS Hartlepool and Stockton Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 

Page | 31 

The 2014/15 programme is detailed below: 

Service Area Date Type of Visit 

JCUH: 

Ward 36 (Trauma and Surgery), Ward 8 (Gastro Medicine) 

11/06/2014 Announced 

NTHFT University of North Tees:  

Ward 33 (Orthopaedics) and EAU 

17/06/2014 Announced 

TEWV  Sandwell Park: 

Adult Inpatients 

26/6/2014 Announced 

NTHFT University of North Tees: 

Ward 32 (Orthopaedics) and Ward 40 (Elderly Care) 

07/10/2014 Announced 

JCUH: 

Ward 35 (ENT, Plastics & General Surgery), Ward 10 (Short stay 
Elderly Medicine, Stroke) 

15/10/2014 Announced 

TEWV Roseberry Park (Adult Inpatients) 06/11/2014 Announced 

JCUH: A&E 20/11/2014 Unannounced 

Following each visit, a report is compiled by the CCG with support from the North of 
England Commissioning Support Service (NECS) and shared with the Trust. Any 
actions identified and required as a result of the visit are monitored as part of CQRG 
processes to ensure implementation. All Trusts have engaged positively in this 
process and responded well to the clinical challenge, scrutiny and constructive 
feedback.    

Quality Surveillance Groups  
The CCG is a member of the local Quality Surveillance Groups (QSGs) which are 
led and coordinated by NHS England. They bring together regulators, 
commissioners and providers of services to explore quality by sharing intelligence, 
particularly that which could help identify early signs of service failure or poor quality. 

During 2014/15, intelligence has been shared in relation to a spectrum of services, 
including acute and community, specialist mental health and learning disability, care 
homes and primary care services such as GP practices, dentists, pharmacists and 
optometrists.  

The QSG provides an opportunity to raise any concerns or risks associated with 
providers meeting quality standards at a local level as well as gain an insight into 
regional and national quality issues pertaining to providers.  

Safeguarding Forum 
The CCG have shared information and intelligence at the Safeguarding Forum, a 
health commissioner sub group of the Quality Surveillance Group which has enabled 
focused attention on specific quality issues in relation to adult and children’s 
services, and generated local solutions, and opportunities for collaborative working 
across the North Durham, Durham, Dales Easington and Sedgefield, Darlington 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and South Tees CCG areas.   
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Quality in Primary Care 
We also have a statutory joint duty to secure continuous improvement in the quality 
of primary medical services working with NHS England and our member practices. 
As well as contributing to QSG’s, we have during 2014/15 reviewed our processes in 
relation to GP primary care services to enable us to address quality, share good 
practice and offer additional support where required. Work is ongoing to define the 
CCG’s role in relation to co-commissioning of primary medical services with NHS 
England from April 2015. 
 
Safeguarding (children and adults) 
The CCG has a statutory duty and responsibility to safeguard children and adults at 
risk from abuse and neglect. In addition, we must ensure robust arrangements are in 
place for Looked After Children (LAC) and contribute to the Child Death Overview 
process.  
 
As a commissioning organisation, we also need to ensure that all health providers, 
from whom we commission services (both public and independent sector), promote 
the welfare of children and protect adults at risk of abuse or neglect, that they comply 
with contractual requirements, including quality standards and legislation.   
 
We have a team of designated safeguarding professionals who continue to work with 
local authorities, NHS England and other partners to deliver our duties. They 
contribute to Local Safeguarding Children Boards, the Tees-wide Adult Safeguarding 
Board and its local arrangements, Serious Case Reviews, Adult Case Reviews, 
Lessons Learned Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews. 
 
In our second year, the team has made progress in a number of areas with evidence 
of outcomes that demonstrate compliance with our statutory duties.    
 
Safeguarding children and Looked After Children (LAC) 
The CCG was subject to a CQC inspection of Children Looked After and 
Safeguarding (CLAS) Review in Stockton-on-Tees. This inspection specifically 
reviewed health services. It focused on the experiences and outcomes for children 
within the geographical boundaries of the local authority area and also reported on 
the performance of health providers serving the area including (CCGs) and NHS 
England Local Area Teams (LATs). 
 
The general feedback was positive although there were a number of actions to 
progress which will enable improvement. A joint CQC action plan is in place which is 
being monitored by the CCG.  
   
Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 
The recommendations of an independent review of CDOP, in relation to 
administration and leadership agreed by all four Local Safeguarding Children Boards 
(LSCBs) in 2014 has been implemented. This has resulted in the appointment of a 
new chair, who is a Director of Public Health and more streamline administration. 
The recommendations of the  CCGs Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children 
and LAC in relation to introducing a Rapid Response Process for unexpected child 
deaths across the Tees area is also being progressed.  
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Adult Safeguarding  
Nationally, and locally the safeguarding adult agenda has focussed on the realisation 
of the Care Bill 2014, which places adult safeguarding on a statutory footing. The 
Care Act received royal assent in May 2014 and the key implications for the local 
authorities and its partners are as follows: 

 a legal duty in relation to enquiries – local authorities can make enquiries into
cases where an adult has needs for care and support, is experiencing or is at
risk of abuse or neglect and due to those needs is unable to protect
themselves or can ask others including the CCG to undertake an enquiry.

 Statutory Safeguarding Adult Boards (SAB) will be established with key
membership from the police, local authority and CCG. The Tees-wide
Safeguarding Adult Board (TSAB) fulfils this statutory requirement.

 A SAB will conduct Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) where an adult has
died and abuse or neglect is experienced or suspected to have been
experienced by the adult at risk.

In preparation for these changes, the CCG has contributed to a review of local 
governance arrangements with partners, and agreed a revised structure including 
provisions that will ensure compliance with the Care Act 2014 and its own statutory 
duties and responsibilities, which will be effective from 1 April 2015.  

Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
The CCG must also ensure it complies with the Mental Capacity Act 2005, and 
understands the implications for its commissioned services in relation to the Mental 
Capacity Act Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA DoLs) 2009 and seeks 
assurance that statute is adhered to.  

The CCG in collaboration with the local authorities on Tees and local Trust providers 
has undertaken a scoping exercise to understand the impact of the Supreme Court 
ruling (March 2014) in relation to the ‘acid test’ which must be applied in relation to 
determining if a person is deprived of their liberty, and what is required to ensure 
compliance with statutory processes. This has been shared with the TSAB and has 
been presented by each organisation as part of their own internal governance and 
reporting arrangements.  It will be monitored routinely.  

The CCG alongside partners will formally provide feedback to the Law Commission 
as part of a planned consultation exercise in relation to a review of this legislation in 
2015. 

Whilst the CCG recognises that providers are responsible for ensuring compliance 
with DoLs legislation, the CCG in commissioning health services from a range of 
providers has regularly sought to gain assurance through its quality assurance 
mechanisms, that patients in receipt of hospital or community based services are 
compliant with this statutory requirement. This forms part of its safeguarding quality 
standards and is routinely monitored through contract management processes. 
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Primary Care (children and adults) 
The safeguarding professionals within the team has continued to provide support to 
GP practices implementing a programme of safeguarding children support visits to 
help primary care clinicians to understand their contribution to safeguarding children.  
Lessons learned from this approach have been utilised to inform discussions with 
NHS England in relation to a programme of support to GP practices for adult 
safeguarding. Plans will be developed for further consideration in 2015 as part of the 
CCG’s response to co-commissioning.  

 

Financial Overview 

The financial accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by NHS 
Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
Robust systems of financial governance and financial management have ensured 
that financial risks were appropriately identified and managed during the year 
enabling the delivery of financial targets.  
 
Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 
Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCG’s are set resource 
limits within which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are 
separate resource limits set for revenue and capital expenditure, with revenue 
expenditure limits further split between programme spend and running costs. 
 
CCG Allocations 

 Programme Budget Allocation – this funding relates to direct healthcare 
expenditure. The CCG allocation for programme spend was £377.9million 

 Running Cost Allowance – this funding, amounting to an average of £25 per head 
of population, is to cover the administrative costs of running the CCG. The CCG 
allocation for running costs was £7.4million 
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The funding resources available to the CCG during the year were as follows: 

 Programme 
Budget 

Allocation 
£’000  

Running 
Cost 

Resources 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Initial baseline allocations 367,001 7,123 374,124 

In-year recurring allocation adjustments  

 Major trauma defund 
(244) - (244) 

In-year non-recurring allocation 
adjustments 

 CFwd Surplus                   
£7,234,000 

 Winter Pressures              
£2,306,000 

 GP IT 
 £1,166,000 

 Referral to Treatment                  
£557,000 

 Mental Health Winter Resilience 
£166,000 

 Neonatal Audiology  
£89,000 

 Exempt Overseas Visitors 
(£330,000) 

 Quality Premium 
 £268,000 

11,188 268 11,456 

Total final allocations 377,945 7,391 385,336 

    

Total funding per head of population * £1,287 £25.17  

 
*funding per head of population has been calculated based on the registered 
population of the CCG, as published by NHS England, of 293,631.  This is based on 
data from NHS IT systems, downloaded in October 2014.  
 
Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
In accordance with NHS England financial planning guidance, the CCG is required to 
deliver a surplus of at least 1% of available resources.  A planned surplus of £9.8 
million (2.6%) was agreed with NHS England during the year and the CCG’s 
successful management of financial risks and robust financial management have 
ensured that the target surplus has been delivered as planned. 
 
The CCG’s results in 2014/15 are set out in the table below, with further detail 
included in note 5 of the full annual accounts published alongside this annual report. 
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Target Outcome Target 
Met? 

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets 
of at least 1% 

Revenue surplus of £9.8 million 
against a revenue resource limit of 
£385.3 million 



Maintain running costs within £25 
per head running cost allowance 

Surplus of £1 million delivered on 
running cost budgets (including 
£268k Quality Premium) 



Maintain capital spending within 
capital resource limit 

No capital resource provided to the 
CCG and no capital spend in year 

N/A 

Ensure cash spending is within the 
cash limit set (>£250,000) 

Cash managed within available 
resources, achieved to £173,000 



 
Operational financial balance 
The CCG’s final programme budget allocation for 2014/15 was £377.9million.   
For 2014/15 a revised CCG allocation formula was developed based on a target 
allocation per head, which resulted in 2.14% CCG growth. 
 
This programme budget funding is used to fund healthcare services including 
hospital and community health services (for both physical and mental health), 
prescribing costs for drugs and appliances, and continuing healthcare. 
 
Relevant costs amounted to £375.5million and resulted in a surplus being delivered 
of £9.8million. 
 
Running costs 
As highlighted above, a separate running cost allowance is provided to all CCGs, 
amounting to c£25 per head of population served, to cover the administrative costs 
of running the CCG. This funds clinicians time on commissioning, managers and 
staff, non staff and premises. A significant element is used to commission support 
services from North of England Commissioning Support Unit. As part of the drive to 
reduce the administrative costs of the NHS and release additional funding to invest 
in frontline healthcare services, there is a requirement to manage administrative 
costs within this allowance. 
 
Total running costs for the year amounted to £6.2 million, compared to a running 
cost allowance of £7.4 million. 
 
Capital resource limit 
The CCG did not receive any capital resource and had no capital expenditure for the 
year hence this target is not applicable in the current year.  In future, the capital 
requirements of the CCG, and any related capital resource received, are expected to 
be minimal and would relate only to potential IT equipment replacement. 
 
Other financial targets and disclosures 
In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities to other 
NHS organisations to record performance against the Better Payment Practice Code 
(BPPC) published by the Department of Health. 
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Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within 
agreed contract terms.  

Measure of compliance 2014-15 2014-15 

Number £000 

Non-NHS payables 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 5,876 55,888 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 5,764 54,299 

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 98.09% 97.16% 

NHS payables 

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,139 271,065 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 2,124 270,819 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 99.3% 99.91% 

Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with 
performance maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt, 
measured against both total invoice value and overall volume of invoices.  

Prompt Payments Code 
In addition to compliance against the BPPC, on the 27 February 2014 the CCG 
became an approved signatory of The Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was 
devised by the government with The Institute of Credit Management (ICM) to tackle 
the crucial issue of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have 
confidence in any company that signs up to the code that they will be paid within 
clearly defined terms, and that there is a proper process for dealing with any 
payments that are in dispute.  

Approved signatories undertake to: 

• pay suppliers on time;
• give clear guidance to suppliers and resolve disputes as quickly as possible; and,
• encourage suppliers and customers to sign up to the code.

Utilisation of resources 
Financial pressures arise each year, but the CCG was able to manage these by 
prudent financial planning and careful financial and risk management.   

One of the CCG’s main objectives was to maintain financial stability and probity 
while ensuring that resources were used as efficiently and effectively as possible in 
meeting the strategic aims as set out in the CCG’s strategic and operational plans. 
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One of the strategic aims of the CCG is to bring care closer to home, reducing the 
historic reliance on secondary care acute services in particular.  This will be essential 
over the next year to deliver the shifts in activity from secondary care services to 
primary and community care settings that will be required to support the 
implementation of the Better Care Fund in 2015/16. 
 
It is important that this transformation of care is managed in a planned and 
progressive manner and the CCG has remained committed to supporting its main 
providers of secondary care services to maintain a balanced local health economy, 
and ensure delivery of key targets and in overall terms the majority of funding 
currently continues to be spent on acute hospital services.  Risk share arrangements 
were agreed with main secondary care providers and Mental Health providers in 
2014/15, to provide a level of certainty for both providers and the CCG, allowing 
greater opportunity to focus on transformational change. 
 
Whilst maintaining a level of stability in the local health economy, significant 
additional investment has also been provided for a range of new and innovative 
services including, for example: 

 Reducing referral to treatment times.  

 System resilience schemes across primary, social and third sector. 

 Additional winter surge capacity in acute care. 

 Mental Health Recovery Programme. 

 Learning Disabilities Respite. 

 Learning Disabilities community support packages. 

 Weekday additional sessions at GP practices over the winter period. 

 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) pathway changes. 

 Hospice schemes. 

 Voluntary sector schemes. 

 Support to care homes. 
 
The CCG has also been successful in some areas of delivery of quality, innovation, 
productivity and prevention programme (QIPP) but these have been offset by 
pressures in acute services.  
 
The utilisation of available resources in 2014/15 across the relevant areas of 
programme spend can be seen below: 
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Pensions 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting 
policies and pension costs notes in the CCG’s financial statements (notes 1.9 and 
4.5 respectively).  Further details of directors’ pension benefits can be found on page 
61. 
 
Looking Forward 
The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well documented, with 
the impact of an ageing and growing population leading to significantly increased 
costs against a backdrop of limited financial resources. 
 
The CCG has refreshed its strategic plan, demonstrating how these pressures will be 
addressed over the next five years.  This will include a particular focus on care for 
the frail and elderly amongst our population, the transformation of urgent care, 
implementation of seven day services, short term intervention services to prevent 
acute admissions and delivery of integrated primary and community services at 
wider scale. 
 
A key element of the CCG’s plan is the Better Care Fund (BCF), a single pooled 
budget across the CCG and local authority, designed to enable transformation in 
integrated health and social care.  Nationally, the BCF amounts to £3.8 billion, with 
the total value of the fund across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees amounting to 
£19.5 million.  The BCF is designed to deliver significant shifts in activity from 
secondary care acute services to primary and community settings, enabling care to 
be provided closer to home and supporting integration of health and social care. 
 

57% 

13% 

7% 

11% 

7% 

2% 
1% 

1% 1% 
0% 

0% 

Programme spend 2014/15 

Acute

Prescribing

Community Services
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Continuing Health Care

Other Primary Care

Other Healthcare Services

NHS Property Services
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This represents a significant challenge for the CCG in delivering the level of 
reductions required in acute activity to release the resources necessary to support 
investment in appropriate health and social care services. 
 
The CCG’s strategic plan is built upon a five-year financial plan which incorporates 
the expected impact of the BCF and other strategic objectives, and provides a stable 
financial foundation upon which to deliver the transformational change required to 
shift activity, and related costs, out of hospital care. 
 

Equality and Diversity  

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and 
the Public Sector Equality Duty and we take Equality and Human Rights into account 
in everything we do, whether commissioning services, employing people, developing 
policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work. 
 
We embed equality into all our core business functions and see it as an opportunity 
to raise equality in service commissioning and performance for the community, 
patients, carers and staff. 
 
This year we refreshed our Equality Analysis (EA) Toolkit and Guidance which 
covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010. This 
ensures that we can identify the effect of our policies, procedures and functions on 
various sections of the population we serve. We take immediate steps to deal with 
any negative impact and make sure equity of service delivery is available for all. 
 
The CCG set in 2013 four equality and diversity objectives that:  

 Hard to reach groups are engaged in any changes across services through 

appropriate consultation and engagement and that services are 

commissioned, designed and procured whilst taking into account these 

groups. 

 We use a wide range of information to assure and improve the safety of 

patients and this is regularly reported and discussed.  

 We have sufficient organisational data to demonstrate that staff from all 

protected groups are paid equally and in line with pay levels for the 

organisation as a whole and that appropriate training has been given on 

equality and diversity matters. 

 The Governing Body receives adequate assurance around equality and 

diversity including the equality objectives, strategy and progress towards 

achievement . 

 
The CCG is currently in the process of migrating to the Equality Delivery System 2 
(EDS2). EDS2 is an equality outcomes framework specifically designed for the NHS. 
It is a toolkit that can help the CCG improve the services they provide for their local 
communities, consider health inequalities in their locality and provide better working 
environments, free of discrimination, for those who work in the NHS. EDS2 has 
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replaced the existing EDS and provides the CCG with a streamlined, more flexible 
framework. 

The CCG has shown significant progress from the objectives set in 2013 providing 
the opportunity to refresh these outcomes, and at the same time migrate to EDS2 
and develop new objectives. The CCG has undertaken a number of processes to 
migrate from EDS to EDS2 which include reviewing of the previous objectives, 
gathering evidence for the new outcomes and using the evidence to grade the 
outcomes. The CCG plans to engage local interests for their input and views around 
the evidence, grading and the process taken place to refresh their objectives. 

Staff and recruitment 
Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff. Anyone 
involved in recruitment is required to undertake recruitment and selection training 
which includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it relates to the 
recruitment process. 

All members of staff receive a copy of the quarterly newsletter, produced by our 
Commissioning Support Unit, which contains up-to-date information on equality 
diversity and human rights legislation and developments. 

We have earned the two tick ‘positive about disabled people’ symbol which 
demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled 
staff. 

We can also demonstrate fair recruitment, workforce engagement and employment 
terms and conditions for staff. 

Male Female 

Governing Body members including all very senior managers 7 3 

CCG employees 8 18 

An open approach 
We have an open, accessible approach and work hard to ensure our services are 
inclusive and accessible to all. Our public buildings are accessible for people with a 
disability and have had disability access audits. 

When it comes to accessing information, we strive to use everyday language 
wherever possible, including our interpreting services. Public information is offered in 
other languages and formats such as large print or Braille and audio. 

We welcome feedback, positive or negative, about people’s experience of local NHS 
services as this helps us to improve services for patients. 

Ali Wilson  
Accountable Officer 
29 May 2015 
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Sustainability Report 
The CCG understands its duty to behave responsibly and ethically in all aspects of 
its business. The organisation is committed to giving due consideration to the impact 
of its individual and collective actions on the core principles of sustainable 
development – society, the economy and the environment. This is both in its role as 
a commissioner of health services and as a local employer. The CCG will seek to 
exceed minimum requirements and mainstream sustainability within the 
organisation’s culture, supporting and encouraging partners to do the same as a 
local leader of the NHS.  

Our Sustainable Development Strategy sets out our commitment to work in ways 
which maximise the health, social and economic benefits our activities bring to the 
community while minimising our impact on the environment. The CCG has adopted 
The Good Corporate Citizenship framework. The support programme is based upon 
six key aspects of NHS responsibilities and describes how sustainable principles can 
be applied. This is the framework also used to underpin this strategy. 

Buildings 
The NHS has the largest property portfolio in Europe; its buildings are a base for the 
1.3 million staff it employs. Whilst the CCG does not own the building it occupies, our 
aim however is to ensure that as far as is practically possible, the CCG’s premises 
and those of commissioned services implement measures in existing and new 
buildings to meet the principles of sustainability and continually seek to reduce their 
carbon footprint.  

Facilities 
The NHS is responsible for 25% of all public sector emissions in England and has a 
carbon footprint of 18 million tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2); 22% of which relates to 
energy consumption. The CCG aims to ensure that as far as is practically possible, 
the CCG incorporating commissioned services will implement measures to meet the 
principles of sustainability and continually seek to reduce their carbon footprint 
through reduction in use of resources such as energy and water, and improve 
methods for managing waste.  We work hard to minimise the creation of waste. The 
CCG has a robust approach to recycling; paper, ink cartridges, batteries, waste, 
electrical goods and confidential waste is all recycled. 

Procurement 
The NHS in England spends £20 billion every year on goods and services. It has a 
duty to use this spending power responsibly. The CCG is aware of the social, 
economic, environmental and ethical impact of its procurement processes and 
decisions on both local and global communities, making sustainable choices as far 
as practically possible. 

Travel 
The CCG encourages sustainable travel wherever possible. We offer a car share 
scheme and reduced cost public transport initiatives. We have a cycle to work 
scheme and we offer shower facilities and cycle parking where we can. The CCG 
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has WebEx so that electronic conferencing can reduce the need for journeys to 
meetings. We also promote care closer to home, telehealth and home working 
opportunities. 

Organisational development and workforce 
All of our staff are encouraged to work sustainably; we promote environmental 
awareness, encourage low carbon travel and facilitate flexible working where 
possible. 

Utilities usage 
Where possible we try and reduce our electricity, gas and water consumption. For 
example, we have a policy to make sure we switch off our lights and close down 
computers when they are not being used and we’re looking to reduce our carbon 
footprint as much as possible. In summary, for 2014/15, our usage has been as 
follows: 

Billingham Health Centre 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 

Occupancy Percentage of building by CCG is 27.39% 

Electricity Usage (kWh) 24,435.71 Electricity Cost  £9,550.29 

Carbon Emissions 
(kgCO2) 12,077.72 

(Conv. Factor 
0.494265) 

Gas Usage (kWh) 67,007.44 Gas Cost  £2,617.75 

Carbon Emissions 
(kgCO2) 12,394.57 

(Conv. Factor 
0.184973) 

Water Usage (units) 99.38 (Estimate) Water Cost  £254.12 

Domestic Waste (Tn) 0.00 (Estimate) 
Domestic 

Waste Cost (£)  £     0  

Recycling (Tn) 0.00 
Recycling Cost 

(£)  £    0 

Confidential Waste (Tn) 0.00 (Estimate) 
Confidential 

Waste Cost (£)  £ 563.94  

Information provided by NHS Property Services except Confidential Waste 

Notes: 

Water Consumption Calculation 
Water consumption has been calculated from costs on the basis of using a 
conversion factor of £2.55696 per cubic meter. This conversion figure is an 
average of ten water company charges for both Fresh Water supply and 
Sewerage processing from 2013 and 2014 that supply NHS PS properties. 
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Electric Consumption Calculation 
Where no details are available for electric consumption the consumption 
figures have been estimated using a conversion factor of 12.8 pence per unit. 
This conversion figure is based on an average taken from a representative 
sample of NHS PS properties. 

Gas Consumption Calculation 
Where no details are available for gas consumption the consumption figures 
have been estimated using a conversion factor of 2.4978 pence per KWh. This 
conversion figure is based on an average taken from a representative sample 
of NHS PS properties. 

Waste Weight 
The weight of all waste categories has been estimated based on cost using an 
appropriate conversion factor. 
Please note that as the waste data was not broken down into categories for 
2013/14, this breakdown has been estimated based on 2014/15 information. 

Finance information 
The financial information included in this report is provided on the 
understanding that it is based on the information available at the time of the 
report’s release. 

Sustainability policies 
The CCG will be reviewing its Sustainable Development Strategy during 2015/16 
including development of any associated policies required to deliver the strategy. 

Ali Wilson  
Accountable Officer 
29 May 2015 
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Members report 
Member practices 
The CCG is made up of member practices which are: 

A & B Medical Practice Queens Park Medical Centre 

Alma Medical Practice Queenstree Practice 

Bank House Surgery Riverside Medical Practice 

Birchtree Practice Roseberry Practice 

Chadwick Practice Seaton Surgery 

Densham Surgery Dr S Rasool 

Eaglescliffe Medical Practice Stockton NHS Health Care Centre 

Elm Tree Medical Centre North Shore Medical (Formerly Dr Y 
Syed's Surgery) 

Gladstone House Surgery Tennant Street Medical Practice 

Hart Medical Practice The Arrival Medical Practice 

Hartfields Medical Practice The Dovecot Surgery 

Havelock Grange Practice The Fens Medical Centre 

Journee Medical Practice The Headland Medical Centre 

Kingsway Medical Practice Thornaby and Barwick Medical Group 

Drs Koh and Trory Victoria Medical Practice 

Marsh House Medical Centre West View Millennium Surgery 

McKenzie House Woodbridge Practice 

Melrose Surgery Woodlands Family Medical Centre 

Norton Medical Centre Wynyard Road Primary Care Centre 

Park Lane Surgery Yarm Medical Centre 

The Council of Members 
The Council of Members is the mechanism through which the individual member 
practice representatives come together for collective decision-making as a member 
organisation.  This ensures active participation by each member practice in the 
functions of the CCG in accordance with its constitution, standing orders and 
scheme of reservation and delegation. Each practice nominates a representative of 
the practice to participate in meetings that take place twice a year. 

The Governing Body 
The Governing Body is responsible for reviewing decisions, formally approving CCG 
plans, and for making sure its budget is spent as efficiently as possible to provide 
high quality healthcare for the entire population. Members of the Governing Body 
are: 

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair 
Dr Posmyk qualified as a doctor in Leeds in 1981 and became a GP in Hartlepool 
from 1986 where he still practices while living in Wolviston.  He gradually became 
interested in medical management via the Diabetes Local Implementation Team, and 
then joined the Hartlepool PCT Professional Executive Committee. He then became 
a representative on the Hartlepool PBC Group prior to becoming Chair.  Dr Posmyk 
was elected to be the Locality GP Representative and Chair of the then Hartlepool 
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Shadow Pathfinder Committee and has now been elected to his second two year 
term as the Chair of the Governing Body for the CCG.   

Ali Wilson, Chief Officer 
Ms Wilson has worked in the public sector for more than 30 years, the last ten of 
those on Teesside. Ali has many years’ experience in health services commissioning 
working at Board level.  This is informed by a background that includes health 
services research, service improvement, medical education, and in hospital and 
general practice based clinical practice.  Ali was one of the country’s first Master’s 
nurse practitioner graduates. As a former Fulbright Fellow in the University of 
Minnesota, USA, Ali maintains a keen interest in patient and public participation, the 
focus of her Fulbright experience.  She was appointed as (Accountable) Chief Officer 
in January 2013. 

Graeme Niven, Chief Finance Officer 
Mr Niven is an experienced NHS senior manager with previous experience of 
working at Executive Director level. He qualified as a Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountant in 1994. He was appointed as Chief Finance Officer in April 
2013 following a period as Chief Finance Officer Designate for the CCG, and prior to 
this, the Strategic Financial Officer for NHS Tees. 

Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse 
As a Registered Nurse, Ms Golightly has previous experience of working in areas 
from across the healthcare landscape, including time spent overseas. Following this, 
she returned to the NHS to work in a number of large hospital Trusts, holding posts 
in Clinical Governance and management of a variety of clinical services, prior to 
joining the CCG. Ms Golightly’s role is a joint appointment with South Tees CCG.  As 
the CCGs’ Executive Nurse, in addition to Child and Adult Safeguarding, her portfolio 
includes monitoring the quality and safety of patient care, as well the experiences 
that patients have when receiving care from our commissioned services. 

Dr Paul Williams, Stockton-on-Tees locality lead and GP member 
Dr Williams qualified as a doctor in Newcastle-upon-Tyne in 1996, where he also 
obtained a Master’s degree in Public Health. As a GP, he has worked in Thornaby, 
Ingleby Barwick, Redcar, Middlesbrough and in several practices in Stockton. He is 
currently a GP at A&B Medical Practice, Stockton-on-Tees. Paul is the GP lead for 
the Stockton locality on the Governing Body. 

Dr Nick Timlin, Hartlepool locality lead and GP member from 1 January 2015, GP 
Member until 31 December 2014 
Dr Timlin qualified as a doctor in Manchester in 1984 and completed the Cleveland 
vocational training scheme, starting work as a GP principal in 1990. Nick is also a 
fully qualified forensic medical examiner and occupational physician and has worked 
for Cleveland police and local firms. He is also a GP trainer, working at Durham and 
Tees Valley Vocational Training Scheme. He currently practices as a GP in 
Hartlepool. 

Dr Mike Smith, Hartlepool locality lead and GP member until 31 October 2014 
Dr Smith qualified as a doctor at Edinburgh University in 1985 and has worked as a 
full-time GP at Bankhouse Surgery in Hartlepool since 1991. He is also a GP trainer, 
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working at Durham and Tees Valley Vocational Training Scheme as a training 
programme director and is also a GP appraiser. Dr Smith resigned from the 
Governing Body in October 2014. 
 
Dr David Hodges, GP member from 1 January 2015 
Dr Hodges works as a fulltime GP at Alma Medical Practice in Stockton. 
 
Dr Bhadresh Contractor, GP member until 31 December 2014 
After graduating in India, Dr Contractor came to England in 1973 for further training. 
He qualified as a surgeon in December 1976 and following post-graduation 
qualification, pursued a career in general surgery until 1983. Subsequently, he 
decided to change career and entered into general practice and worked at 
Woodbridge Practice in Stockton-on-Tees. Dr Contractor retired from the Governing 
Body in December 2014.  
 
Hilary Thompson, Lay Member (patient and public involvement) – Deputy Chair 
Mrs Thompson taught for many years in nursery and primary schools in both 
Stockton and Hartlepool. In 1993, she became a full-time lecturer in Early Years at 
New College, Durham and later taught part-time at Middlesbrough College and New 
College. In 2009, Hilary was elected Hartlepool Borough Councillor for Elwick Ward 
and held cabinet posts with responsibility for Culture, Leisure and Tourism and 
Performance and Adult Services and Public Health, before stepping down in 2012. 
Hilary has special responsibility for patient and public involvement and serves as 
Deputy Chair of the Governing Body. 
 
Steve Smith, Lay Member (audit and governance) 
Mr Smith, upon leaving university, qualified as a Chartered Accountant with a ‘Big 
Four’ firm before moving into industry. In 1987 Steve joined Northgate plc, and over 
the next 23 years led a team that grew the business to become the largest van rental 
business in both the UK and Spain, with a turnover of over £600 million and around 
3,500 employees. Steve retired as CEO in March 2010. Steve is the Chair of the 
Audit Committee, bringing his commercial experience and expertise to Hartlepool 
and Stockton-on Tees CCG.  
 
Dr Charles Stanley, Secondary Care Consultant 
Dr Stanley is a consultant child and adolescent psychiatrist and currently undertakes 
this role in Leeds. He is an honorary senior lecturer in child and adolescent 
psychiatry at the University of Leeds. He is also an associate medical director at 
Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust. Prior to training in psychiatry, he worked 
as a hospital-based paediatrician. Charles is the Secondary Care Consultant on the 
Governing Body. 
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Audit Committee 
An Audit Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by Steve Smith, Lay 
Member for audit and governance.  
 
Other members of the Audit Committee are: 

Hilary Thompson     Lay Member (patient and public 
involvement) 

Dr Bhadresh Contractor (until 31 
December 2014) 

GP Governing Body member 

Dr David Hodges (from 1 January 2015)  GP Governing Body member 

 
Other committee structures are referenced fully in the Governance Statement and 
the Remuneration Report details members of the Remuneration Committee.  
 

Declarations of Interests 
A full list of Governing Body Interests is included within the Remuneration Report. 
 

Pension liabilities 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting 
policies and pension costs notes in the CCG’s financial statements (notes 1.9 and 
4.5 respectively). Further details of directors’ pension benefits can be found on page 
61. 
 

Human Resources Information  
 
Workforce Overview 2014/15 

    Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

FTE 19.45 19.85 19.65 23.55 

Headcount 25 25 24 30 

New Hires 0 1 0 8 

Leavers 0 1 1 2 

Leavers (FTE) N/A 0.8 0.2 2 

Fixed term staff (headcount) 0 0 0 1 

Maternity and Adoption Leave 0 0 0 0 

Paternity Leave 0 0 0 0 

Turnover Rate (headcount) 0% 4% 4.11% 6.74% 

 
Details of sickness absence data are included in note 4.3 of the financial statements. 
 
Sickness Absence (rolling year)   

Annual Sickness Absence Rate 0.82% 

Total Calendar Days Lost 75 

Average days lost per FTE  3.18 

Estimated Cost £5,256 

 
The CCG monitors its sickness absence and follows an approved policy. 
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Benchmarking data 
Monthly comparison of Annual Sickness Data for North of England CCGs 
 

Org Apr-14 May-14 Jun-14 Jul-14 Aug-14 Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 

CCG 1 0.22% 0.10% 1.54% 0.72% 0.00% 0.45% 1.81% 0.11% 1.03% 3.07% 3.40% 3.28% 

CCG 2 0.99% 1.95% 1.95% 3.43% 2.19% 1.90% 3.52% 2.36% 1.45% 4.09% 6.93% 5.12% 

CCG 3 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.61% 0.89% 3.98% 10.36% 10.17% 10.80% 11.50% 

CCG 4 3.11% 5.25% 5.16% 3.05% 1.74% 4.38% 2.57% 5.56% 3.22% 3.46% 4.15% 2.94% 

HaST 
CCG 

0.34% 0.00% 0.00% 3.25% 4.07% 0.70% 0.68% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.66% 0.27% 

CCG 6 3.65% 4.95% 2.95% 2.91% 2.29% 0.19% 3.40% 3.86% 0.92% 0.96% 0.00% 0.00% 

CCG 7 7.27% 4.90% 6.62% 5.16% 3.50% 2.28% 1.56% 2.34% 1.79% 4.24% 0.70% 3.52% 

CCG 8 19.71% 15.02% 10.24% 8.28% 12.87% 13.55% 14.00% 16.90% 10.22% 9.86% 8.98% 4.55% 

CCG 9 0.00% 0.00% 5.11% 3.32% 0.17% 4.05% 4.92% 3.07% 1.17% 0.33% 0.00% 0.81% 

CCG 10 0.95% 0.43% 1.92% 0.40% 0.00% 0.00% 0.57% 0.83% 0.58% 0.91% 0.60% 3.10% 

CCG 11 4.15% 4.85% 3.32% 3.64% 1.76% 2.84% 2.47% 2.01% 2.35% 3.15% 5.78% 6.60% 

CCG 12 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.00% 

CCG 13 0.17% 0.16% 0.00% 0.03% 0.15% 0.00% 0.03% 0.00% 0.00% 0.92% 0.98% 1.11% 

Total 3.25% 3.35% 3.19% 3.18% 2.46% 2.58% 3.19% 3.19% 2.25% 3.37% 4.11% 3.81% 

 

External audit 
Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the Audit 
Commission, Deloitte LLP was appointed as auditor to the CCG for 2014/15. 
 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 5 of the CCG’s financial statements. 
The costs relate to the performance of the statutory audit and services carried out in 
relation to the statutory audit. No other audit services were commissioned from 
Deloitte LLP. 
 
The auditors bring an annual work plan to the Audit Committee for approval. This 
states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and includes any details of 
non-audit work if applicable. When considering whether the level of any non-audit 
work is appropriate, the CCG would consider the composition of the team (and 
whether any audit team members are involved) and the level of fees. 
 
Ernst and Young LLP has been appointed to audit the accounts of NHS Hartlepool 
and Stockton-on-Tees CCG for two years from 2015/16. The appointment is made 
under section 3 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and was approved by the Audit 
Commission Board at its meeting on 4 December 2014. 
 

Disclosure of personal data related incidents 
As per the Governance Statement, there have been no serious personal data 
incidents during this period within the CCG. 
 

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information 
We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost 
allocation and the setting of charges for information. 
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Principles for remedy 
The principles for remedy as published in May 2010, states that good practice with 
regard to remedies means: 
1. Getting it right
2. Being customer focused
3. Being open and accountable
4. Acting fairly and proportionately
5. Putting things right
6. Seeking continuous improvement

The CCG has adopted these principles as part of its complaints procedures. 

Employee consultation  
The CCG employs 25 (20.3 whole time equivalent) members of staff, four of which 
are joint posts with South Tees CCG. We fully recognise our duty to consult in 
respect of staff/structural changes.  Within the year, the organisational structure of 
the CCG was informally consulted upon but it was felt that the nature of the changes 
did not require formal employee consultation. 

Our NECS HR function facilitated a CCG HR reference group, held quarterly over 
the past 12 months with a view to coordinate HR employment practice across the 12 
North of England CCGs. Some key outcomes from the group have been: 

 sharing information on GP contracts

 pay benchmarking

 obtaining legal advice

 review of occupational health services and payroll services

Equality disclosures 
Detail in relation to the CCG’s approach to equality and diversity is detailed in the 
equality and diversity section contained within the strategic report. 

Health and Safety 
The CCG has no health and safety incidents during 2014/15 that are reportable 

under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 

2013 (RIDDOR).  

Fraud 
The CCG has an anti-fraud and corruption policy in place that all employees must 
adhere to. The Chief Finance Officer is the organisational lead for the CCG on all 
fraud-related matters. 

Better Payments Practice Code 
Detail in relation to the better payments practice code is detailed in the financial 
overview section contained within the strategic report. 

Prompt Payments Code 
Detail in relation to the prompt payments code is detailed in the financial overview 
section contained within the strategic report. 
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Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 
We certify that the CCG has incident response plans in place, which are fully 
compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 
2013. The CCG regularly reviews and makes improvements to its major incident plan 
and has a programme for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are reported 
to the Governing Body. 

Statement as to disclosure to Auditors 
The statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities in respect of the accounts 
can be found in section 3. The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit 
information that has been withheld from the CCG’s external auditors, and members 
of the Governing Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of 
relevant information and to ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where 
appropriate.  

Exit packages and severance payments 
The CCG had no exit packages or severance payments during 2014/15. 

Off-payroll arrangements 
Detail in relation to off-payroll arrangements is included in the Remuneration Report. 

Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer 
29 May 2015 
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Remuneration report 
Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee was established to advise the Governing Body about 
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior 
staff, including the clinical staff of the CCG.  

The Remuneration Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s 
constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. The committee is made up 
as follows: 

 Hilary Thompson, Lay Member (Patient and Public Involvement) - Chair of
Remuneration Committee

 Steve Smith, Lay Member (Audit and Governance)

 Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair of the Governing Body

 Dr Charles Stanley, Governing Body Secondary Care Consultant

The Remuneration Committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to 
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for 
employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. The Chief 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have provided advice and guidance to the 
committee in relation to pay rates and terms and conditions for its clinical members, 
although they were specifically excluded from discussions in relation to their own pay 
rates and terms and conditions. Legal advice was also sought from Hempsons which 
was obtained in relation to contractual type for GP members of the Governing Body; 
this was obtained on a regional basis across the North East CCGs. 

The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy. 

Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments made to 
any senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments 
in future years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of 
service and guidance issued by the Department of Health. 

Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG 
are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either 
party. 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service, and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made 
during the year to past senior managers.  

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is 
taken from the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England:  
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Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group. This means 
those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decisions 
of individual directorates or departments. It is considered that the Governing Body 
voting members represent the senior managers of the CCG. 
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Declarations of Interest 
 

Name Position within 
or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation and nature 
of its business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date 
from 

Date until 

Dr Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

Chair Havelock Grange Practice, 
Hartlepool 

Partner Nil 01/04/14 31/03/15 

Virgin Healthcare Hartlepool 
(Practice Share and Profits) 

Interest via practice 

HCC Properties – Share & Profits Shareholder 

Ms Ali Wilson Chief Officer Community Ventures (LIFT) 
Company - No payment received and 
represents NHS 

Public Sector Directorship 
 
 

Nil 01/04/14 31/03/15 

Academic Health Science Network - 
No payment received 

 Director 

Member of Ad Astra Academy Trust - 
No payment received 

Member 13/11/14 31/03/15 

Mr Graeme 
Niven 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Nil Nil Nil 01/04/14 31/03/15 

Ms Jean 
Golightly 

Executive Nurse South Tees Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Executive Nurse for South 
Tees CCG (job share HaST 
and South Tees CCG's) 

Nil 01/04/14 31/03/15 

Dr Paul 
Williams 

Governing Body 
Member, 
Locality Lead 
(Stockton-on-
Tees) 

A&B Medical Practice GP Partner Partner - employed by 
Redcar and Cleveland 
Borough Council (Tees 
Valley Public Health 
Shared Services) and 
HaST CCG 

01/04/14 31/03/15 

Tees Valley Public Health Shared 
Services 

Practice has contract with 
Tees Valley Public Health 
Shared Services 

Father - Partner in Arrival 
Practice and A&B Medical 
Practice 

Arc, Stockton Arts Centre Trustee   

Catalyst Trustee   

Dr David 
Hodges 

GP Member 
(from 1

st
 

January 2015) 

Alma Medical Centre GP Partner Wife - GP Partner within 
Queen Park Medical 
Centre 

01/01/15 31/03/15 
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Name Position within 
or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation and nature 
of its business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date 
from 

Date until 

Dr Nick 
Timlin 

Governing Body 
Member 
Locality Lead 
(Hartlepool) 
(from  1 January 
2015) 

GP Member 
(until 31 
December 
2014) 

McKenzie Group Practice Senior Partner Brother - Optician based 
in Hartlepool 

01/04/14 31/03/15 

Able UK Ltd Occupational / Physician Nephew is a drug 
company representative 
for CreoPharma 

Tascor Services Ltd Forensic Medical Examiner 

Royal College of GPs Member 

British Medical Association Member 

Dr Charles 
Stanley 

Secondary Care 
Consultant 

Leeds Community Health Care NHS 
Trust 

Consultant 01/04/14 30/11/14 

Leeds Community Health Care NHS 
Trust 

Medical Manager / Associate 
Medical Director 

01/12/14 31/03/15 

Ad hoc medico-legal 
consultancy to North East 
region Courts 

01/04/14 31/03/15 

A Trustee of the Market 
Place - a counselling 
charity for young people 
in Leeds 

01/03/15 31/03/15 

Mrs Hilary 
Thompson 

Lay Member 
Patient and 
Public 
Involvement, 
Deputy Chair of 
Governing Body 

Hartlepool Travel Agency Company Secretary Nil 01/04/14 31/03/15 

Elwick Parish Council Vice Chair 

Tees Valley Rural Community 
Council 

Trustee 

Mr Steve 
Smith 

Lay Member 
Audit And 
Governance 

Nixon Hire Ltd Non-exec director Nil 01/04/14 31/03/15 

Transflex Vehicle Rental Ltd Non-exec director / 
Shareholder 

Procomm Site Services Ltd Non-exec director / 
Shareholder 

Thornaby Rainbow Trust Trustee 
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Name Position within 
or relationship 
with the CCG 

Name of organisation and nature 
of its business 

Position held  / nature of 
interest 

Personal interest Date 
from 

Date until 

Dr Mike 
Smith 

Governing Body 
Member 
Locality Lead 
(Hartlepool) 
(until 31 October 
2014) 

Bankhouse Surgery GP Partner Member of BMA 01/04/14 31/10/14 

Training Programme Director 

Durham and Tees Valley GP 
Training Programme  

  

Dr Bhadresh 
Contractor 
  
  

 GP Member 
(until 31 
December 
2014) 
  
  

Woodbridge Practice  Partner   01/04/14 31/12/14 

Crestdown Ltd (owner of Thornaby 
Medical Practice) 

Director / Shareholder   

Virgin Healthcare Stockton (Practice 
Share and Profits) 

Shareholder / Member / carry 
out Vasectomy procedures 
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NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2014/15:– 
Name Title 2014/15 

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

£00 

Performance 
Pay and 

Bonuses 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All Pension 
Related 

Benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 120-125 50 n/a n/a 0 120-125 

Dr Bhadresh 
Contractor 

GP Governing Body Member 
(ended Dec 14) 

0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 

Dr Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

Chair of Governing Body 85-90 n/a n/a n/a 12.5-15 95-100 

Dr Charles 
Stanley 

Governing Body Member, 
Secondary Care Doctor 

10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 95-100 10 n/a n/a 0 95-100 

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Involvement) 

10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Dr Mike Smith 
GP Governing Body Member 
Hartlepool Locality Lead (ended 
31

st
 October 2014)

15-20 n/a n/a n/a 0 15-20 

Dr Nick Timlin 
GP Governing Body Member 
(ended 31

st
 Dec 14)

0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 

Dr Nick Timlin 
Hartlepool Locality Lead 
(commenced 1

st
 Jan 15)

5-10 n/a n/a n/a 0-2.5 5-10 

Dr Paul Williams 
GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 

75-80 n/a n/a n/a 0 75-80 

Steve Smith 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

10-15 n/a n/a n/a 0 10-15 

Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 40-45 n/a n/a n/a 32.5-35 70-75 

Dr David Hodges GP Member 0-5 n/a n/a n/a 0 0-5 
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Hartlepool and Stockton CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2013/14: 
Name Title 2013/14 

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

£000 

Taxable 
Benefits 

(rounded to 
the nearest 

£00) 

£00 

Annual 
Performance 

Related 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Related 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All Pension 
Related 

Benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 120-125 50 n/a n/a 192.5-195 315-320 

Dr Bhadresh 
Contractor GP Governing Body Member 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a 5-10 

Dr Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

Chair of Governing Body 85-90 n/a n/a n/a 180-182.50 265-270 

Dr Charles 
Stanley 

Governing Body Member, 
Secondary Care Consultant 

10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a 10-15 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 95-100 10 n/a n/a 230-232.50 325-330 

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Involvement) 

10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a 10-15 

Dr Mike Smith 
GP Governing Body Member 
Hartlepool Locality Lead 

25-30 n/a n/a n/a 125-127.5 150-155 

Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a 5-10 

Dr Paul Williams 
GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 

80-85 n/a n/a n/a 342.5-345 425-430 

Steve Smith 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a 10-15 

Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 30-35 n/a n/a n/a 65-67.5 95-100 
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Notes: 

The following senior officers are not directly employed by the CCG.  The amounts 
disclosed above are paid to the respective GP practice as the employing 
organisation, to provide the services of the individuals on a sessional basis:  

Dr Nick Timlin (April 2014 to December 2014) 
Dr Bhadresh Contractor (April 2014 to December 2014) 
Dr David Hodges (January 2015 onwards) 

The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no 
remuneration from the CCG for their role as Governing Body members: 

Louise Wallace Director of Public Health Hartlepool 
Jane Humphries Director of Adult and Children Services Stockton 

The following senior officer is employed by NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
CCG, but also works for South Tees CCG as part of a 50/50 staff sharing 
arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration. 
Their banded total remuneration in the financial year 2014/15 was £80,000 to 
£85,000: 

Jean Golightly     Executive Nurse 

No payments have been made to past senior managers and no payments have been 
made for Loss of Office. 

Pay Multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation's workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG in the financial year 2014/15 was £120,000 to 
£125,000. This was 5.45 times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£22,016. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.   
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2014/15 2013/14 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 120-125 120-125 

Median Total Remuneration (£) 22,016 28,755 

Ratio 5.45 4.18 

Revised Pay Multiples (excluding Lay Members and Non-Executive GPs) 

2014/15 2013/14 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 120-125 120-125 

Median Total Remuneration (£) 28,830 24,207 

Ratio 4.16 4.97 

There is no difference between 2013/14 and 2014/15 regarding the Band of Highest 
Paid Director’s Total Remuneration; this level has remained constant between the 2 
years. The Median Total Remuneration has decreased between 2013/14 and 
2014/15 when all pay information is considered.  

The CCG by its very nature employs and calls on the services of Lay members and 
Non-Executive GPs. These individuals work between 1 and 2 sessions for the CCG 
a month and therefore this can skew the median total remuneration. Therefore 
presented in the table above is pay multiples without these individuals. This bring the 
ratio from 5.45 to 4.16, more accurately reflecting the pay position of the CCG. 

The ratio change for 2013/14 to 14/15 is an increase by 1.27. When excluding Lay 
Members and Non-Executive GPs the ratio actually decreases by 0.81. This ratio 
has altered for the following reasons 

 adjustment to the number or composition of the general workforce – CCG
Headcount has increased from 24 to 30 (18.45 to 23.55 FTE)

 Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration was subject to a pay
freeze

Agenda for Change terms and conditions staff subject to pay freeze but not an 
increment freeze. 
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Hartlepool and Stockton CCG Senior Officers’ Pension Benefits 2014/15 
 

Name and Title Real 
increase / 

(reduction) 
in pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2015 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2015 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2014 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

value at 31 
March 2015 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Ali Wilson 
Chief Officer 

0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 125-130 862 36 921 17 

Graeme Niven 
Chief Finance Officer 

0-2.5 0-2.5 35-40 105-110 595 23 634 13 

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk 
Chair of Governing Body 

0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 40-45 248 35 289 12 

Dr Charles Stanley 
Governing Body Member 
Secondary Care Doctor 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dr Mike Smith 
Governing Body Member 

0 0 10-15 40-45 275 1 284 3 

Dr Nick Timlin 
Governing Body Member 
(ended 31 December 14) 

0-2.5 0 0-5 0 0 2 2 1 

Dr Nick Timlin 
Locality Lead (commenced 1 
January 15) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dr Paul Williams 
Governing Body Member 

0-2.5 0 15-20 45-50 187 26 218 13 

Steve Smith 
Governing Body Lay Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Jean Golightly 
Executive Nurse 

0-2.5 5-7.5 10-15 40-45 210 43 259 6 

Dr Bhadresh Contractor 
Governing Body Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Name and Title Real 
increase / 

(reduction) 
in pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2015 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2015 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2014 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

value at 31 
March 2015 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

Dr David Hodges 
GP Member 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued 
by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer 
the benefit accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to 
which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in 
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the 
scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and 
Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme 
or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
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Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months 

Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 10 

Of which, the number that have existed: 

for less than one year at the time of reporting 5 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 1 

for between two and three years at the time of reporting 4 

for between three and four years at the time of reporting 
 

0 

for four or more years at the time of reporting 0 

Of the ten engagements above, all of these relate to payments to clinicians in order to provide clinical leadership and 
advice to the CCG workstreams and membership of the Governing Body. 

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that 
last longer than six months 

Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six 
months in duration, between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 
2015 

5 

Number of new engagements which include contractual 
clauses giving the CCG the right to request assurance in 
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations 

5 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0 

Of which: 

Assurance has been received 0 

Assurance has not been received 0 

Engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being 
received  

0 

Of the five engagements commenced in 2014/15, four of these relate to clinical leadership and advice to the CCG 
workstreams and the remaining engagement is to an individual who is a member of the Governing Body. 
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Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, 
and/or senior officers with significant financial responsibility, 
during the year  

3 

Number of individuals that have been deemed board 
members, and/or senior officers with significant financial 
responsibility during the financial year. This figure includes 
both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements 

12 

Of the three engagements noted above, as at 31st March 2015, one remains in place relating to an individual who is a 
member of the Governing Body. 

Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer 
29 May 2015 
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Statement by the Accountable 

Officer 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets 
(and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 

The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the ‘Manual for Accounts’ issued by the Department of 
Health and in particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis.

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the ‘Manual for
Accounts’ issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements.

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 

Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer 
29 May 2015 
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Governance Statement by Ms Alison Wilson as the 
Accountable Officer of NHS Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group  

1. Introduction
The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was licenced from 1 April 2013 under
provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the
NHS Act 2006.

From the 1 April 2013, the CCG was licensed without conditions. 

2. Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money.  I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my
CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

I am also responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.  

3. Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code.
However, we have drawn upon best practice available, including those aspects of
the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG.
Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not
mandatory for public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice.

4. The CCG governance framework

4.1 The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model 
Template. The Constitution was reviewed during 2014/15 in order to ensure it 
remained legally compliant and took into account any guidance provided and legal 
requirements put in place since its adoption. It was formally signed off by NHS 
England as remaining compliant on 31 March 2015.  Review of the CCG’s 
Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-certification 
checklist, including: 

 specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its
functions;

 specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the
functions of the Governing Body;

 the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions;

 the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health
services are being or may be provided pursuant to its commissioning
arrangements are involved;
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 arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests;

 arrangements made by the CCG for securing that there is transparency about
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made.

4.2 The CCG has continued to operate with a governance structure which reflects 
guidance and best practice. This includes a Remuneration Committee, an Audit 
Committee, a Governance and Risk Committee and a Quality, Performance and 
Finance Committee.  Terms of reference have been agreed for these committees 
which support the organisation in the delivery of effective governance. These have 
been reviewed during the course of the year by the respective committees to 
ensure they fully reflect the scope and responsibility delegated through the CCG 
constitutional arrangements. The organisational structure including key 
committees during 2014/15 is set out below: 

4.3 Description of the established bodies and committees 

4.3.1 The roles of each of the Clinical Council of Members, the Governing Body 
and its associated committees are set out broadly below.   

4.3.2 Clinical Council of Members 
The Council of Members is the mechanism through which the individual member 
practice representatives come together for collective decision making as a 
member organisation, ensuring active participation by each member practice in 
the functions of the group in accordance with its Constitution, standing orders 
and scheme of delegation. Through two-way communication, it holds to account 
the Governing Body and Executive about the overall performance of the CCG 
and enables practices to influence the strategic direction and priorities of the 
group. There have been four meetings of the Council during this year and the 
main areas covered by the Council include: 

 approval of the CCG’s revised Constitution;

 approval of the CCG’s annual report and accounts;

 agreement on appointment to Governing Body roles and timing of
elections to the Governing Body for the CCG;

 CCG Financial Plans;

 Quality Improvement;

 Primary Care Co-commissioning;

 Planning for 2015/16;

 Performance Management of Quality in General Practice.
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The Council of Members delegates approval of a range of functions to the 
Governing Body as set out in paragraph 4.3.3. The Council have agreed to seek 
nominations for Chairmanship of the Council for each meeting rather than 
appoint a permanent Chair. 
 
The Council of Members undertook a review of its effectiveness as part of its 
meeting in March 2015. The results of the Council of Members’ assessment of 
its own effectiveness are that it remains compliant with its terms of reference, 
which were reviewed at their meeting held in March 2015. The Council of 
Members recognised that the papers it received could be streamlined in order to 
receive appropriate information and that further review of the membership and 
Chairmanship of the Council needed to take place. 

 
Membership of the Council of Members consists of the healthcare professional 
nominated by each member practice to act on its behalf in dealings with the 
CCG and to represent that member practice at meetings of the Council of 
Members. Attendance at the meeting held in June 2014 was 15/40 (37.5%), 
September 2014 was 20/40 (50%), January 2015 was 21/40 (52.5%) and in 
March 2015 was 16/40 (40%). 
 
4.3.3 Governing Body 
The Governing Body has the following functions conferred on it by sections 
14L(2) and (3) of the 2006 Act, inserted by section 25 the 2012 Act, together with 
any other functions connected with its main functions as may be specified in 
regulations or in its Constitution. The Governing Body also has functions of the 
CCG delegated to it by the Council.  Our Governing Body has responsibility for: 
 

 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise 
its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with 
the CCG’s principles of good governance (its main function); 

 identifying strategic risks and developing an Assurance Framework; 

 approving the commissioning strategy which takes into account financial 
targets and forecast limits of available resources; 

 approving consultation arrangements for the CCG’s commissioning plan; 

 engaging with partners and stakeholders; 

 reviewing compliance with the public involvement Statement of Principles; 

 approving the level of non-pay expenditure on an annual basis; 

 approving reports showing the total financial allocations received and their 
proposed distribution including any sums to be held in reserve including 
regular updates on significant changes; 

 receiving and reviewing reports on financial performance against budget 
and plan, including explanations for variances; 

 receiving reports detailing actual and forecast expenditure and activity for 
contracts; 

 receiving reports which outline the reasons for seeking tenders from firms 
not previously pre-qualified to provide goods/services; 

 determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to 
employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and the 
allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under 
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paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 
of the 2012 Act; 

 approving a timetable for producing the annual report and accounts; and 

 approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations. 
 

The Governing Body has an agreed annual cycle of business which enables it to 
discharge the duties set out above. During 2014/15, the Governing Body has 
discharged it duties under the responsibilities above. The Governing Body met 
on seven occasions and has held all of its meetings in public with the exception 
of ‘In Committee meetings’ which discuss work in progress and items of a 
confidential nature prior to public disclosure at the earliest convenience. Full 
details of the membership and attendance of the Governing Body is included at 
Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record. 
 
Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record 

 
* Resigned from post 31

st
 December 2014 

** Appointed into post 1
st
 January 2015 

*** Resigned from post 31
st
 October 2014 

**** Appointed Hartlepool Locality Lead 1
st
 January 2015 

 

Members Attendance Record  Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 2014/15 

Name Title Audit 

Committee 

Governance 

and Risk 

Committee 

Quality, 

Performance 

and Finance 

Committee 

Governing 

Body  

Remuneration 

Committee 

Dr Bhadresh 

Contractor 

GP Governing 

Body Member 

4/4*  2/3*  4/5*  

Jean Golightly 

 

Executive Nurse   3/6 6/7  

Dr David 

Hodges 

GP Governing 

Body Member 

0/1** 0/1**  2/2**  

Graeme 

Niven 

Chief Finance 

Officer 

 4/4 

(Chair)  

4/6 7/7  

Dr Boleslaw 

Posmyk 

 Chair/ GP    6/7 

(Chair) 

4/4 

Dr Mike Smith GP Governing 

Body Member 

Hartlepool Locality 

Lead  

  4/4*** 

(Chair) 

4/4***  

Steve Smith Lay Member- 

Audit and 

Governance 

5/5  

(Chair) 

  7/7 3/4  

Dr Charles 

Stanley 

Secondary Care 

Consultant 

   7/7 3/4  

Hilary 

Thompson 

Lay Member- 

Patient and Public 

Involvement 

5/5 3/4  6/7 4/4  

(Chair) 

Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing 

Body Member 

Hartlepool Locality 

Lead 

  1/1**** 5/7  

Dr Paul 

Williams 

GP Governing 

Body Member 

Stockton-on-Tees 

Locality Lead 

  5/6  

(Chair) 

6/7  

Ali Wilson Chief Officer   5/6 5/7  
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Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality assurance, 
risk and governance issues. The arrangements meet the requirements of best 
practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a strong 
accountability framework has been established. They reflect the public service 
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify as Accountable 
Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. 
The Governing Body duties are contained within the CCG’s Constitution, within 
the standing orders under meetings of the CCG, which is available on the CCG’s 
website. 
 
Key areas that the Governing Body has focussed on during the year include: 
 

 Receipt, review and approval of a range of strategies. 

 Finance and Performance. 

 Quality Performance including safeguarding. 

 Better Care Fund development and plans. 
 Securing Quality in Health Services Project. 

 Commissioning Intentions, CCG Operational Plan and Strategic Plans. 

 Outline Business Case for the development of the new hospital.  

 Co-commissioning of primary care. 
 

The Governing Body also receives confirmed minutes from each of its 
committees to enable the Governing Body to consider the work and 
effectiveness of the respective committee and to receive assurance relating to 
delivery of their aims and objectives.  
 
During the year, the Governing Body undertook a process of ‘critique’ to review 
at each meeting the effectiveness of the meetings. This process ensures 
continuous learning and development to improve effectiveness. The Governing 
Body undertook a development session in March 2015 facilitated by Healthcare 
Risk Consulting to fully review its effectiveness. The results of the Governing 
Body members’ review demonstrated compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Code. The CCG recognised an ongoing area of challenge in 
relation to the level of information presented to the Governing Body and the 
balance between its strategic and operational assurance focus.  

 
4.3.4 Remuneration Committee 
The committee is established to advise/recommend to the Governing Body the 
appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and other 
staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The committee also 
advises/recommends to the Governing Body remuneration for the role of Chair, 
remuneration and terms of service of Governing Body clinical representatives 
and any independent lay members and reviews any business cases for early 
retirement and redundancy. Full details of the membership and attendance of the 
Committee is included at Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings 
Attendance Record.  The committee’s terms of reference are referenced within 
the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website. The committee 
considers its effectiveness on an ongoing basis and has produced an annual 
report of its work. 
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Key areas that the Committee have focussed on during the year include: 
 

 Terms and Conditions and contracts for clinicians 

 Lease car policy 

 The process for appraisals of Governing Body members  

 Reporting of appraisals of Governing Body members 
 
4.3.5 Audit Committee 
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS 
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the organisation 
with an independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial 
information and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the 
NHS.   
 
Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is included at 
Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record.  The 
committee’s cycle of business includes review of the CCG Governing Body 
Assurance Framework and corporate risk register.  The committee Chair is a lay 
member of the Governing Body and has no executive powers, other than those 
specifically delegated in its terms of reference. The committee’s terms of 
reference are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the 
CCG’s website. Annually, the committee also carries out a self-assessment of its 
effectiveness which is undertaken with support from Internal Audit and the 
committee considered itself to be operating effectively. 
 
The Audit Committee as part of its terms of reference provides an Annual Report 
of its work to the Governing Body. The most recent report available covers 
2014/15. The principal purpose of the report is to give the Governing Body 
assurance as to the work carried out by the Committee. The Committee’s cycle 
of business enables it to carry out its key objectives necessary to support its 
assurances regarding the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls.  
 
Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Audit Committee 
have received the following assurances: 
 

 Internal Audit Progress Reports 

 External Audit Progress Reports 

 Chief Finance Officer Reports 

 Head of Internal audit opinion 

 Approval of Audit and Counter Fraud Plans 

 Review of Strategic Risks 

 NECS Assurance Framework 

 Annual Report and Accounts 
 

4.3.6 Governance and Risk Committee 
The principal purpose of the Governance and Risk Committee is to exercise on 
behalf of the Governing Body the functions that are delegated to it in respect of 
the development, implementation and monitoring of integrated risk and 
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governance. In particular, by providing assurance on the systems and processes 
by which the Governing Body leads, directs and controls its functions in order to 
achieve its organisational objectives. It has overall responsibility for reviewing 
the CCG Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Registers, (together with 
the Audit Committee), and upon which reports were made to the Governing 
Body. Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is 
included at Figure 1: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance 
Record.  The Committee’s terms of reference are available on the CCG’s 
website and have been reviewed during 2014/15. 
 
Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Governance and 
Risk Committee have considered the following risk and governance issues; 

 Information Governance Toolkit including sign off of submission 

 Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework 

 Risk Management Strategy and Governance Framework  

 Emergency Planning and Business Continuity  

 Health and Safety Strategy and implementation plan 

 Assurance on Equality, Diversity and Human Rights arrangements and 
review of key equality duties and objectives 

 Relevant policy approval including Safeguarding, HR, Information 
Governance and Corporate policies  

 Corporate Risk Register and Assurance Framework including Deep Dive 
exercises on individual responsible directors specific risks 

 
4.3.7 Quality Performance and Finance Committee 
The purpose of the Committee is to provide assurance to the Governing Body of 
effective management of risk in relation to finance, contracts, performance and 
quality, including the delivery of Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Performance (QIPP). The Committee’s cycle of business includes overseeing 
that commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and safe 
manner and performance is managed according to the agreed terms of the 
Service Level Agreements and Legally Binding Contracts and that appropriate 
corrective action is being taken to address areas of underperformance, including 
changes to future contracts where necessary. Full details of the membership and 
attendance of the Committee is included at Figure 1: Governing Body and 
Committee Meetings Attendance Record. The Committee’s terms of reference 
are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s 
website.  
 
One of the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee’s key responsibilities is 
to seek assurance that the CCG is commissioning safe care for patients and this 
is undertaken by monitoring provider performance and adherence to quality 
standards. 
 
Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Quality 
Performance and Finance Committee and its associated sub-committees have 
considered the following issues; 

 Quality monitoring reports on provider commissioned services, including the 
reporting of serious untoward incidents 
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 Provider reports in relation to complaints, claims and untoward incidents  

 Provider Healthcare Acquired Infections 

 Provision of Nursing Home Care 

 Achievement of QIPP 

 Performance Monitoring of Provider contracts 

 Monitoring delivery of the 2014/15 financial plan 

 Operational and Financial Plans 

 Delivery of commissioning intentions 

 Assurance on Data Quality 
 

The committee reviews its effectiveness on an ongoing basis and has produced 
an annual report of its work. 
 
4.3.8 Funding Panel 
The Funding Panel, which is a collaboration between CCGs and is accountable 
to the CCG’s Governing Body, considers all Individual Funding Requests and 
decides whether or not to support individual requests on the basis of the 
information provided with the request to the committee. Requests will be 
assessed for access to treatment within the commissioning authority of the CCG 
and the membership through the delegation and reservation arrangements. 
 
During the course of the year, it has developed and agreed protocols for 
accessing services or treatment outwith core commissioned services, either for 
NHS or non-NHS providers where a service level agreement or contract does 
not exist. The Governing Body has approved and keeps under review the terms 
of reference for the Funding Panel which includes information on the 
membership of the committee. Please also see detail at 4.3.9.3. 
 
4.3.9 Other committees on which the CCG is a partner  
 
4.3.9.1 The CCG is a member of both the Hartlepool Borough Council and 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
membership is in accordance with the respective Council’s governance 
arrangements. As provided in the CCG’s Constitution, the CCG has not entered 
into any formal joint committees but we engage with other CCGs and partners in 
Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees. Together with all other CCGs across the North 
East and Cumbria, the CCG is a member of the Northern CCG Forum which is 
supported by a memorandum of understanding. 
 
4.3.9.2 The CCG is also a statutory member on the Hartlepool Borough Council 
Local Safeguarding Children Board, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local 
Safeguarding Children Board, Hartlepool Borough Council Safeguarding Adults 
Board, Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Safeguarding Adults Board and the 
Tees-wide Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Board.  These bodies are led by our 
local authority partners. 
 
4.3.9.3 The CCG has entered into joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North 
of England to determine commissioning for health gain policies and to review 
and approve individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals 
process. In accordance with the CCG’s Constitution, where the CCG has 
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established a partnership with others, the CCG has provided details in its 
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation of the individual who has delegated 
authority to make decisions on its behalf, although the CCG retains responsibility 
for the decision. Please also see detail at 4.3.8. 

 
5.  The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework 

5.1 The Risk Management Framework provides a number of ways in which we 
identify and mitigate risks. We have an established corporate policy set which 
informs our knowledge, and guides our actions and behaviours. These policies 
ensure we conduct our business appropriately, comply with legal requirements 
and protect our patients and staff from avoidable harm. Policies included are a 
Risk Management Strategy and procedures, a Health and Safety Strategy, 
Policy and procedures and an Incident Management Policy. 
 
5.2 A Risk Management Strategy is in place which takes into account current 
guidance on risk management best practice and is consistent with the principles 
contained within the NHS England’s Risk Management Strategy and Risk 
Management Policy and Procedure issued in July 2013. The Risk Management 
Strategy sets out the CCG’s approach to the way in which, in general terms, 
risks are managed. This is achieved by having a thorough process of risk 
assessment in place, providing a useful tool for the systematic and effective 
management of risk, and informing and guiding staff as to the way in which all 
significant risks are identified and controlled 
 
5.3 Our staff also participate in mandatory training to support them to acquire the 
essential knowledge and skills to fulfil their roles. Throughout 2014/15, executive 
directors and senior manager leads have been held to account for the mandatory 
training compliance rates within their areas. Mandatory training requirements 
include Fire Safety, Equality and Diversity, Information Governance and Counter 
Fraud. 
 
5.4 Executive directors and senior manager leads are assigned to each of our 
operational and strategic risks in line with their portfolio and are responsible for 
ensuring their effective assessment and management. They are held to account 
by the Governing Body and its sub-committees, namely the Audit Committee, the 
Governance and Risk Committee and the Quality, Performance and Finance 
Committee as well as more regular one-to-one line management arrangements. 
There is evidence of the Governance and Risk Committee challenging the 
assessment of risk and controls and actions in place to manage risks, acting in 
accordance with their terms of reference to provide assurance to the Governing 
Body. 
 
5.5 The CCG has had an assurance framework in place throughout 2014/15. 
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) enables the Governing 
Body to be sighted on the risks to the delivery of the organisation’s strategic 
objectives and to ensure that effective controls and assurance are in place. 
Changes were made to the Governing Body Assurance Framework agreed at 
the Governing Body 27 January 2015 including the format of the GBAF. The 
initial risk rating has been removed in order to reflect that the GBAF addresses 
controls, assurances and any gaps allowing the Governing Body to assure itself 



NHS Hartlepool and Stockton Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 

 

Page | 75  
 

against delivery of the strategic objectives. An extra column detailing assurances 
on effectiveness of controls has been included which demonstrates to the 
Governing Body how effective the controls are. 

 
6. The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework 

 
6.1 A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place 
in the CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed 
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

 
6.2 The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable 
level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
6.3 Our system of internal control is detailed within our Constitution, in particular 
within the scheme of reservation and delegation, the CCG standing orders and 
the CCG’s prime financial policies. The following internal control mechanisms 
are in place within the CCG: 
 

 A Governing Body which ensures that the CCG has appropriate arrangements 
in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in 
accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance. 

 A committee structure, as described in section 4, in which each have a vital 
role in contributing to the establishment of an effective governance 
infrastructure and for both identifying and interpreting information relating to 
risks to the fulfilment of our objectives and vision; the safety of patient care; 
high quality commissioning; our role as an employer. 

 An appointed Accountable Officer who is responsible (amongst other duties) 
for ensuring that the CCG fulfils its duties to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically thus ensuring improvement in the quality of 
services and the health of the local population whilst maintaining value for 
money. By working closely with the Chair of the Governing Body, the 
Accountable Officer will ensure that proper constitutional, governance and 
development arrangements are put in place to assure the members (through 
the Governing Body) of the organisation’s ongoing capability and capacity to 
meet its duties and responsibilities. 

 An appointed Chief Finance Officer who is responsible for (amongst other 
duties) overseeing robust audit and governance arrangements leading to 
propriety in the use of the CCG’s resources. 

 Appointed internal and external auditors who also measure the effectiveness 
of internal control through their efforts. They assess whether the controls are 
properly designed, implemented and working effectively, and make 
recommendations on how to improve internal control which the CCG acts 
upon. 

 Finally, all staff members are responsible for reporting operational problems, 
monitoring and improving their performance, and monitoring non-compliance 
with the corporate policies and various professional codes, or violations of 
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policies, standards, practices and procedures. Their particular responsibilities 
are documented in their own objectives and role and responsibilities.  

6.4 The CCG is responsible overall for its system of internal control, however it is 
reliant on others for provision of services and therefore their respective systems 
of internal control: 

 
NECS - A number of functions of the CCG are carried out by the North of 
England Commissioning Support Unit under a service level agreement; however 
the CCG retains the delegated responsibilities as per its agreed Constitution. 
The services provided by the CSU are:  
 

 Service Planning.  

 Service Reform.  

 Procurement and Market Management.  

 Provider Management.  

 Joint Commissioning.  

 Continuing Healthcare.  

 Medicines Optimisation.  

 Clinical Quality.  

 Governance including Risk Management and Incident Reporting. 

 Research and Development.  

 Commissioning Finance.  

 Financial Control.  

 Financial Accounting.  

 Business Information Services.  

 Business Information Services Information Communication Technology 
(ICT).  

 Human Resources.  

 Organisation Development.  

 Communications and Engagement.  
 
Secondary User System (SUS) – national system, repository for the acute 
activity and is used to generate the financial charges to Foundation Trusts. 
 
Payroll – provided by Northumbria Healthcare Foundation Trust, a payments 
system for staff salaries and travel expenses. 
 
Prescribing spend – national system ran by Business Services Authority, 
payment mechanism to dispensing pharmacies for issuing GP prescriptions. 
 
Electronic Staff Record (ESR) – national system ran by McKesson – records 
relevant information for employed staff and links to information used for payroll. 
 
Procurement and creditor payment systems. National system ran by Shared 
Business Services – ordering of good and services, and payment of invoices. 
 
General Ledger system – national system Oracle, providers’ financial 
management information and information for annual accounts.  
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6.5 Information Governance (IG) 
The CCG actively manages its data security risks through our Information 
Governance Framework and is assessed through our IG Toolkit work. The 
Governance and Risk Committee have received quarterly updates on progress 
against the IG Toolkit and the CCG achieved a satisfactory rating for level 2 of 
the IG Toolkit. 

 
6.5.1 The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and 
procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and 
employees, in particular personal identifiable information.   The NHS Information 
Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and 
the annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other 
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, 
securely, efficiently and effectively. The CCG has in place a Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO), (Graeme Niven, Chief Finance Officer) and a Caldicott 
Guardian (Dr Kai Sander). 

 
6.5.2 We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information 
governance systems and processes in place to help protect information.  We 
have an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an approved 
strategy and a suite of approved policies and procedures in line with the 
Information Governance Toolkit.  We have ensured all staff undertake annual 
information governance training and have implemented a staff information 
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance 
roles and responsibilities.   

 
6.5.3 There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 

incidents.  This process outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the 
reporting procedures to be used in the event of a data security breach.  We are 
continuing to develop information risk assessment and management procedures 
and a programme is being established to fully embed an information risk culture 
throughout the organisation. 

 
7.   Risk assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and Internal                   

Control 
 

7.1 Risk is identified in accordance with the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy 
and risk management is embedded in the organisation via a number of 
mechanisms. Risk identification is undertaken in a number of ways, through 
horizon scanning by the executive team, through identification by sub-
committees of the Governing Body, through identification and escalation by 
individual executive directors and also by the Governing Body. 
 
7.2 Identified risks are included in the Corporate Risk Register which identifies 
current and prospective risks to the organisation. The Corporate Risk Register is 
initially reviewed by the Governance and Risk Committee and provided to the 
Governing Body. Strategic Risks are also reviewed by the Audit Committee in 
order to provide assurance to the organisation.  Active steps are taken to ensure 
that it is regularly updated and updates are provided quarterly to the Governance 
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and Risk Committee in line with the Constitution and scheme of delegation. In 
addition, all CCG policies and reports are assessed for risks and equality impact. 

 
7.3 Furthermore, the incident reporting system identifies the risks that have 
already (or nearly) occurred from incidents or near misses. Our strategic 
planning system ensures that all organisational objectives are rated for risks to 
achievement of delivery; and our performance management system rates all 
objectives for risk to delivery. In addition, all Governing Body reports are 
assessed for equality impact and all reports are assessed to provide evidence of 
assurance for the Assurance Framework and/or mitigate risk included on the 
CCG’s Risk Register. 
 
7.4 Some benchmarking was undertaken in June 2014 across the 13 North East 
and Cumbria CCGs to compare the CCG’s risk management arrangements and 
that information is presented below: 

 

CCG Number of Risks (as at June 2014) 

CCG A 32 

CCG B 13 

CCG C 55 

CCG D 3 

HAST CCG 22 

CCG F 13 

CCG G 15 

CCG H 32 

CCG I 32 

CCG J 57 

CCG K 15 

CCG L 26 

CCG M 37 

 
7.5 The following in-year and future risks were identified and are being actively 
managed: 
 
In-Year Risks 

 The CCG does not have the required level of assurance for delivery of nursing 
homes care quality standards and validation visits are not carried out 
routinely. 

 Fragility of capacity of nursing care beds resulting in greater pressures on 
secondary care and limiting patient choice of care placements closer to home. 

 Without a designated doctor for Looked after Children the CCG fails to comply 
with statutory requirements. 

 Without a Named GP for Safeguarding Children in post there is no specific 
resource to promote and support the provision of effective primary care 
services to safeguard children and to improve their outcomes, i.e. to facilitate 
GPs and practice staff to understand their roles and fulfil their responsibilities 
towards the protection and safeguarding of children as defined in the Children 
Act 2004. 
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 Failure to comply with the mandatory information governance requirements. 

 Financial and reputational risks in relation to the primary care co-
commissioning agenda including failure to agree roles and responsibilities 
with NHS England. 

 Failure to deliver the QIPP Agenda results in the CCG not being able to 
achieve financial balance whilst ensuring high quality services for patients. 

 
Future Risks 

 Failure to engage with providers and stakeholders to jointly develop a model 
of care to deliver the five-year forward view and ensure system sustainability. 

 The CCG working with its local authority partners fails to implement and 
deliver the Better Care Fund plans. 

 Health and Social Care Act 2012 required significant changes to how personal 
confidential data (PCD) could be used for commissioning purposes.  
Commissioners are not able to access and use PCD for commissioning 
purposes. 

 Failure to procure commissioning support services to ensure delivery of CCG 
statutory duties. 

 CCG is responsible for designating a range of services that local 
commissioners believe should continue to be provided locally if any individual 
provider is at risk of failing financially. These are called 'Commissioner 
Requested Services' (CRS). Given the increasing financial pressures that 
Foundation Trusts are reported to face over the coming years the importance 
of appropriate designation and the potential consequences need to be given 
full and serious consideration. 

 Conflicts of Interest in relation to primary care co-commissioning lead to 
reputational damage to the CCG.  

 
All of these risks have key controls identified against them and also the delivery 
of both external and internal assurance regarding these risks. They also include 
mitigating actions where appropriate and are subject to an action plan.  As at the 
end of the year, the CCG was actively managing 30 corporate risks. This was 
higher than the 22 identified in the benchmarking information at 7.4, due to the 
identification of risks described above.  
 
7.6 None of the risks have been assessed as impacting upon the CCG’s licence. 
The Governance and Risk Committee signed off the CCG’s risk register on 12 
March 2015 confirming that they agreed that all risks were being actively 
managed and appropriate mitigations were in place. However, the CCG’s risk 
register is a dynamic document and is constantly subject to update and change 
in order to reflect the nature of the risks the CCG faces. 
 
7.7 The CCG is constantly reviewing its risk management processes to ensure 

they comply with good governance and best practice. As such, a revised 
process for the Governing Body management of risk and assurance including 
the GBAF for 2015/16 has been developed: 
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 Governing Body Assurance Framework received at the commencement
of the financial year and at the end of the financial year in its entirety.

 Quarterly update reports to the Governing Body that provides detail in
relation to corporate risks, Governing Body Assurance Framework and
horizon scanning for risk.

 Governance and Risk Committee receive quarterly updates regarding
GBAF and the CCG’s corporate risks – any new risk which is proposed
to be added to the risk register and any risk proposed to be closed is
agreed by the Governance and Risk Committee.

 The Audit Committee ensures that there is a robust process in place
regarding the development of the GBAF and it undertakes quarterly
reviews of the controls and assurances against strategic risks.

 Horizon scanning for risk is undertaken by Executive Team on quarterly
basis.

 Any new or emerging risks are identified by officers of the CCG and by
NECS.

7.8 The Governing Body Assurance Framework for 2015/16 will continue to be 
developed alongside a planned review of the CCG’s corporate/strategic 
objectives. The planned approach is to utilise the NHS England 15/16 CCG 
assurance framework as a template, mapping the CCG’s strategic objectives to 
the assurances required. Following this, all CCG corporate risks will be identified 
against the relevant strategic objective and included in the revised assurance 
framework. 

8. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
8.1 The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing
its resources. The Quality, Performance and Finance Committee have
continuously monitored the financial position of the CCG throughout the year and
highlighted risks to the Governing Body regarding the effective and efficient use
of resources.

8.2 The Governing Body have received an updated financial position, as part of 
the Finance and Performance report, at each of their Governing Body meetings 
and have had the opportunity to ask questions of the Executive relating to 
assurance of the delivery of the CCG’s financial objectives. By combining the 
finance and performance report into one report, this illustrates the wider 
considerations between cost and performance and allows challenge of the 
executive to be made. They have also actively sought assurance from the 
Quality, Performance and Finance Committee as well as from the Audit 
Committee via internal and external audit reports that the CCG is ensuring value 
for money in the use of its resources. 

8.3 Internal Audit reports have been undertaken in relation to financial 
management arrangements and performance reporting to NHS England, and 
financial planning and budget setting. Significant assurance has been provided 
in relation to these areas. However, the CCG has also recognised that there are 
a number of risks that it has had to manage in-year in order to ensure it delivers 
its resources, namely: 
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 Failure to manage winter pressures on acute activity. 

 Failure to manage continuing healthcare costs. 

 Failure to manage prescribing costs. 

 Failure to deliver QIPP. 
 
These risks are actively managed under the CCG’s risk and control framework 
as described in section 6. 
 
8.4 As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to 
satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this 
by examining documentary evidence and through discussions with senior 
managers. Their audit work is made available to and reviewed by the Audit 
Committee. 
 

9.   Review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control within the CCG. 

 
9.1 Capacity to handle risk  
 
9.1.1 As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility for: 

 ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management strategy, 
including effective risk management systems and internal controls; 

  the development of the corporate governance and assurance framework; 

 meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance 
towards our strategic objectives. 
 

9.1.2 Each of the executive directors and senior manager leads of the CCG are 
responsible for: 
 

 co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
Risk Management Strategy; 

 ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken 
to implement improvements; 

 ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Strategy; 

 incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation. 
 

9.1.3 All managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk 
management strategy within their span of control and for ensuring that staff 
understand and apply the relevant policy and strategy in relation to risk 
management. All staff within the CCG are responsible for assisting in the 
implementation of the Risk Management Strategy and for highlighting any areas 
of risk through the incident reporting procedures, a principal means through 
which the CCG manages risk and learns lessons.  
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9.1.4 The risk management process has been implemented in accordance with 
agreed policy by the Chief Finance Officer supported by the Corporate 
Governance and Risk Officer, with expert input from the Commissioning Support 
Unit. Additionally, the Scheme of Delegation clearly sets out the individual level 
responsibilities held at director level in relation to risk management. 
 
9.2 Review of effectiveness 
 
9.2.1 My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance 
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by 
the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.  
 
9.2.2 The Governing Body Assurance Framework itself provides me with 
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG 
achieving its objectives have been reviewed.  

 
9.2.3 I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit 
Committee, and the Governance and Risk Committee, and plans to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system are in place.  
 
9.2.4 The Corporate Management Team also make a significant contribution to 
the overall effectiveness of the system. Each director and senior executive has 
provided an annual assurance statement which describes any significant issues 
and confirms the work undertaken to manage risk and comply with duties. 
Furthermore, it has enabled me as Accountable Officer to gain on-going 
assurance regarding compliance with statutory duties and risk. 
 
9.2.5 The CCG commission and receive support from a number of systems and 
from a number of organisations.  The CCG can seek assurance via a Service 
Auditor Report, and/or seeking internal audit assurance and/or placing its own 
internal controls. The critical systems the CCG rely on for its commissioning and 
business functions are detailed in 6.4 and for each system the CCG has 
identified the risk and mitigations we have in place for assurance, and what we 
currently receive in relation to assurance. 
 
SUS – This system is of high risk if the information supplied is inaccurate or 
manipulated. The risk is mitigated by reconciling our local data with the 
Foundation Trusts. There is no national Service Auditor Report (SAR) in place 
and reliance is placed on the reconciliation controls. 
 
NECS System – there are varying levels of risks on the systems supplied via 
NECS. A SAR is in place and those high risk systems are reviewed. Annually, 
we identify those areas not covered via the SAR and request internal audit to 
review.  
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Payroll – High risk area, for example ghost on the payroll. Mitigations in place, 
small numbers of staff, payroll checks carried out via financial management on a 
monthly basis, budget reports would pick up significant errors. CCG receives a 
copy on the internal audit report. No SAR in place, reliance on management 
checks and internal audit report. 
 
Prescribing Spend – High risk area, significant spend high volumes very 
difficult to check and reconcile. Place full reliance on the information being 
accurate. A national SAR is in place. 
 
ESR – high risk of errors and manipulation in employee data and errors in 
payments. A SAR is in place and the CCG has placed reliance on this. 

 
Procurement and Creditor Payments – high risk of error and manipulation. 
Mitigations in place, NHS contracts in place, orders match contracts, scheme of 
delegation in place, budget management. A SAR is in place and the CCG has 
placed reliance on this. 

 
General Ledger – high risk if information in the system is incorrect, financial 
performance could be inaccurately reported as well as annual accounts been 
incorrect. NECS SAR in place, external audit scrutiny and sign off of accounts. 
 
During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed these risks and have 
provided assurance that systems are in place to minimise the risks and I have 
placed reliance on them to form this Annual Governance Statement.  
 
9.2.6 Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the 
CCG, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, 
governance and internal control.  
 
The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances 
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the 
Accountable Officer’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s 
system of internal control. This opinion will, in turn, assist the Accountable 
Officer in the completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Our opinion is set out as follows: 
 
1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis for the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 
 
Our overall opinion is that Significant Assurance can be given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 
some weakness in the design and inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 
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1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes; 
 
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk based 

audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have 
been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the 
relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances. 
 
The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and, together with 
the opinion, should be read in its entirety. 
 
The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated 
processes 
 
During 2014/15 we have provided significant challenge and support to the CCG 
regarding the assurance framework in terms of the format and content, including 
discussions at Audit Committee meetings. We have also provided horizon 
scanning support and prompted the CCG to undertake assurance mapping to 
source providers to enable the CCG to effectively manage the process. The 
assurance framework has existed throughout the year and although it may 
require some development it is generally ‘fit for purpose’. Risk management 
processes have been in place throughout the year and detailed discussions have 
been held at Audit Committee meetings. 
 
CCG management processes have highlighted a number of issues throughout 
the year that have been addressed directly with NECS management as part of 
their routine meetings. 
 
The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments, 
contained within risk-based plans that have been reported during the year 
 
During the year 2014/15 we have undertaken our work in accordance with the 
Internal Audit annual plan. Throughout the year we have reported our findings to 
the Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer (and other Executive colleagues 
where applicable). Our internal audit progress reports to the Audit Committee 
have set out the areas covered by internal audit work during the year, our results 
and matters arising. 
 
The majority of this work would indicate that significant assurance opinions have, 
or will be assigned to the majority of the CCG’s systems and processes. There is 
one audit that we have not completed at the time of writing this annual report; 
 
• Business Continuity Planning (BCP) 
 
We were looking to place reliance upon the Type II service auditor report from 
NECS which will cover BCP testing, however, this has not been issued. 
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By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no ‘no 
assurance’ final reports and no ‘limited assurance’ final reports. 
 
In undertaking our duties we have identified some weaknesses in the design or 
effectiveness of controls in certain systems. We have reported these issues 
during the year, and post the year end, and there are no specific issues we wish 
to bring to the Accountable Officer’s attention for potential disclosure within the 
Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Third party assurances 
As a result of the support service arrangements provided by NECS under a 
signed service level agreement, the CCG will receive a number of assurance 
reports covering the 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015, some of which post date 
this opinion. 
 
The CCG has received a Service Auditor Report from NECS covering the period 
1st April 2014 to 30th September 2014. The report covers 123 controls relating 
to 39 control objectives in Payroll, Business Intelligence, Information 
Governance, Finance, IT and Quality in relation to those services provided to the 
CCG. Deloitte’s audit opinion was a qualified one, on account of 5 exceptions 
noted in the control environment. These exceptions related to Payroll, Finance 
Training, Management Accounts, Finance and routine reports. The report 
provides reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be 
achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the year. 
 
We understand that work is currently ongoing to produce the second report 
covering the second half of the year, and at the time of producing this report, it 
had not been issued. We expect the report to cover BCP testing (as noted 
above). 
 
The CCG will also receive a Service Auditor Report on continuing healthcare 
controls operated by NECS on a specific date which has not yet been 
determined. We understand that the report will not be available until June 2015. 
In providing our overall assurance opinion, we are unable to provide assurance 
on unseen service auditor reports. However, following the issue of these reports, 
we would suggest that the CCG takes appropriate action with NECS if there are 
any reported weaknesses in NECS operating controls. 
 
The CCG will also have access to a service auditor reports from Shared 
Business Services for finance and accounting and procurement controls; and a 
separate service auditor report for payroll. An assurance letter was received from 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust on 29th April 2015 which 
provided significant assurance with no issues of note on the payroll processes 
that are undertaken on behalf of the CCG. At the time of producing this report, 
the remaining assurances are not available to us and as such have not been 
considered as part of our opinion. 
 
The CCG has also received support from the NECS governance team. Although 
we have no significant issues, we have discussed some concerns that exist 
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(from our perspective) regarding the effectiveness of arrangements which will 
require review and clarification in 2015/16. 

9.2.7 My review for 2014/15 is also informed by: 

 Regular executive reporting to my delivery team (senior executive
meeting) and to the Governing Body and escalation processes through
the Audit Committee.

 Third Party Assurance provided for the functions carried out on behalf of
the CCG.

 NHS England Assurance processes.

9.3 Data Quality  
The Governance and Risk Committee approved a Data Quality Policy which 
clearly defines data and explains data standards and the importance of data 
validation.  Assurance on the quality of data is provided through the data quality 
procedures and policies put in place including NHS number compliance, 
pseudonymisation, compliance with new ISNs, Reference Cost Audits, 
Information Governance Toolkit data quality requirements. Data Quality 
requirements are also built into contract with providers and within the SLA in 
place with NECS. Any data provided to the Governing Body is verified by 
directors’ responsible for those areas before it is formally presented.  

9.4 Business Critical Models  
The Commissioning Support Unit holds all the business critical models that are 
used by the CCG.  The CCG has received assurance that an appropriate 
framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of business 
critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. 
Further assurance has been given that all business critical models have been 
identified and that information about quality assurance processes for those 
models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by the 
Chief Analyst in the Department of Health. 

9.5 Data Security 
There have been no Level 2 reportable Information Governance breaches in 
2014/15. Information Governance within the CCG is monitored by the 
Governance and Risk Committee which reports to the Governing Body. The 
CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian and Senior Information Risk 
Owner. 

The CCG has submitted the Information Governance Toolkit and has been 
assessed as being 72% overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s 
rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard. Significant assurance has been 
given in respect of the CCG’s Information Toolkit submission following a review 
by Internal Audit. 

The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. 
During the year, the CCG received 257 FOI requests under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and no requests under the Data Protection Act 1998. All 
the requests were responded to within the statutory timescales. 
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9.6 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
9.6.1 During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and 
explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with 
extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with all the relevant 
legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for the Council 
of Members and Governing Body decisions and the scheme of delegation. No 
further guidance or legal advice has superseded this process. 

9.6.2 In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory 
duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any 
restrictions on delegation of those functions. Responsibility for each duty and 
power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. Directorates have confirmed 
that their structures and those supporting structures provided by NECS provide 
the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory 
duties. 

10. Conclusion
My review confirms that NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG has a
sound system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies,
aims and objectives. Where weaknesses have been identified, actions have
been put in place for 2015/16.

Ali Wilson 
Accountable Officer 
29 May 2015 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2015

2014-15 2013-14

Note £000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1.1 964 881

Operating Expenses 5 374,747 364,061

Other operating revenue 2 (233) (687)

Net operating expenditure before interest 375,478 364,255

Net operating expenditure for the financial year 375,478 364,255

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption 11 0 0

Total Net Expenditure for the year 375,478 364,255

Of which:

Administration Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1.1 880 783

Operating Expenses 5 5,277 4,894

Other operating revenue 2 0 0

Net administration costs before interest 6,157 5,677

Programme Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1.1 84 98

Operating Expenses 5 369,470 359,167

Other operating revenue 2 (233) (687)

Net programme expenditure before interest 369,321 358,578

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure 0 0

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 375,478 364,255

The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement

1
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Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2015

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Note £000 £000

Non-current assets:

Total non-current assets 0 0

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 17 1,098 1,019

Cash and cash equivalents 20 173 147

Total current assets 1,271 1,166

Non-current assets held for sale 21 0 0

Total current assets 1,271 1,166

Total assets 1,271 1,166

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 (19,927) (18,241)

Provisions 30 (252) 0

Total current liabilities (20,179) (18,241)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (18,908) (17,075)

Non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 0 0

Assets less Liabilities (18,908) (17,075)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (18,908) (17,075)

Total taxpayers' equity: (18,908) (17,075)

The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 26 May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer

Ali Wilson

2
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended

31 March 2015

General 

fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (17,075) (17,075)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014 (17,075) (17,075)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (375,478) (375,478)

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (375,478) (375,478)

Net funding 373,645 373,645

Balance at 31 March 2015 (18,908) (18,908)

General 

fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Balance at 1 April 2013 0 0

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Net operating costs for the financial year (364,255) (364,255)

Total revaluations against revaluation reserve 0 0

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (364,255) (364,255)

Net funding 347,180 347,180

Balance at 31 March 2014 (17,075) (17,075)

The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2015

2014-15 2013-14

Note £000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (375,478) (364,255)

Increase in trade & other receivables 17 (79) (1,019)

Increase in trade & other payables 23 1,687 18,241

Increase in provisions 30 252 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (373,618) (347,033)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (373,618) (347,033)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 373,644 347,180

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 26 147

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 147 0

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 173 147

The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement

4
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual 

for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

Manual for Accounts 2014/15  issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts  follow 

International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as 

determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts  permits a choice of 

accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning 

group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are 

described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as 

evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 

assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If 

services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2  Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be „acquired‟ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be „discontinued‟ 

only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be „discontinued‟ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting 

Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions 

(which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 

transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  

Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is 

disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to 

income and expenditure entries.

1.5 Charitable Funds

From 2014/15, the divergence from the Government Financial Reporting Manual that NHS Charitable Funds are not consolidated with bodies‟ 

own returns is removed. Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under 

common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities‟ accounts.

The NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group do not have any charitable funds.

1.6 Pooled Budgets

The clinical commissioning group is party to a pooled budget arrangement in relation to the loan of community equipment.  The pool is hosted by 

Middlesbrough Council.  As a commissioner of healthcare services, the clinical commissioning group makes contributions to the pool that are 

then used to purchase healthcare services.  Annual contributions to the pool 2014/15 £162,000 (2013/14 £168,000).

1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the clinical commissioning group‟s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those 

estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods.

1.7.1 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group‟s accounting 

policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

The key estimations the clinical commissioning group has made, are to estimate an accrual for two months of prescribing expenditure which was 

based on the information of ten months of actual prescribing charges and to estimate a two month accrual for acute data, based on ten months 

activity data.

1.8  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

5
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Notes to the financial statements

1.9 Employee Benefits

1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including 

bonuses earned but not yet taken.

1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme 

that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. 

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 

liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 

participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 

liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless 

of the method of payment.

Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme 

assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group‟s accounts. The 

assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from 

pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is 

recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is 

recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of 

other comprehensive net expenditure.

1.10 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 

value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, 

which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.11.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are 

functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under 

single managerial control; or,

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective 

cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated 

as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.12 Intangible Assets

1.12.1 Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical 

commissioning group‟s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:

·                When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;

·                Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,

·                Where the cost is at least £5,000.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.13 Donated Assets

The clinical commissioning group has not held any donated assets in 2014/15.

1.14  Government Grants

The clinical commissioning group has not held any government grants in 2014/15.

1.15 Non-current Assets Held For Sale

The clinical commissioning group has not held any non-current assets held for sale in 2014/15.

1.16 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases 

are classified as operating leases.

1.17 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the 

present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned 

between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group‟s surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as 

a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are 

operating or finance leases.

1.18  Private Finance Initiative Transactions

The clinical commissioning group has not had any private finance initiative transactions in 2014/15.

1.19  Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable 

approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

The clinical commissioning group does not hold any stock at 31st March 2015.

1.20 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents 

are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 

insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 

integral part of the clinical commissioning group‟s cash management.

1.21   Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 

reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 

obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury‟s discount rate as follows:

·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%

·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%

·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%

·                All employee early departures: 1.30%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 

recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 

raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features 

to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 

are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.22   Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the 

NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS 

Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.23   Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 

pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 

receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular 

claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.  
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Notes to the financial statements

1.24 Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling

In 2014/15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.  

Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims. NHS Hartlepool and 

Stockton Clinical Commissioning Group contribution to this pool in 14/15 is £537,000. 

1.25 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme

Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are not expected 

to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As the clinical commissioning 

group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the 

allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

1.26 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is 

not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 

measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 

of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an 

inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

The clinical commissioning group had no contingent liabilities at the 31st March 2015.

1.27 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 

receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 

asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

·                Held to maturity investments;

·                Available for sale financial assets; and,

·                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.27.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose 

separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any 

resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group‟s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates 

any interest earned on the financial asset.

1.27.2 Held to Maturity Assets

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive 

intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 

impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.27.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the 

other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the 

exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.

1.27.4 Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After 

initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the 

effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the 

initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at „fair value 

through profit and loss‟ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of 

impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset‟s carrying 

amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset‟s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in 

expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount 

of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 

been recognised.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.28  Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-

recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.28.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:

The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,

The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets.

1.28.2  Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose 

separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any 

resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group‟s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on 

the financial liability.

1.28.3 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from 

Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest 

method.

1.29  Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 

purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 

fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.3 Foreign Currencies

The clinical commissioning group‟s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency 

are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of 

these are recognised in the clinical commissioning group‟s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.31 Third Party Assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning 

group has no beneficial interest in them.

1.32  Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 

legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the 

generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would 

have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums 

then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.33 Subsidiaries

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic or other benefits are 

classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows 

are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary‟s 

accounting policies are not aligned with the clinical commissioning group or where the subsidiary‟s accounting date is not co-terminus.

Subsidiaries that are classified as „held for sale‟ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or „fair value less costs to sell‟.

The clinical commissioning group had no subsidiaries in 2014/15.

1.34    Associates

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise significant influence so as to obtain economic or other 

benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group‟s accounts using the equity method. The investment 

is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect the clinical commissioning group‟s share of the entity‟s profit/loss and other 

gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is received by the clinical commissioning group from the entity.

Joint ventures that are classified as „held for sale‟ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or „fair value less costs to sell‟.

The clinical commissioning group had no associates in 2014/15.

1.35   Joint Ventures

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or more other parties so as to obtain economic or other 

benefits are classified as joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Joint ventures that are classified as „held for sale‟ are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or „fair value less costs to sell‟.
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Notes to the financial statements

The clinical commissioning group had no joint ventures in 2014/15.

1.36  Joint Operations

Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not 

performed through a separate entity. The clinical commissioning group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets 

and liabilities; and cash flows.

The clinical commissioning group had no joint ventures in 2014/15.

1.37 Research & Development

Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as development expenditure relates to a 

clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future 

benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to 

benefit from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation.

The clinical commissioning group had no research and development in 2014/15.

1.38 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2014/15, all of which 

are subject to consultation:

·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

·                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014/15, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-patient care services to other bodies 233 0 233 687

Total other operating revenue 233 0 233 687

Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

3 Revenue

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

From rendering of services 233 0 233 687

From sale of goods 0 0 0 0

Total 233 0 233 687

Revenue is totally from the rendering of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the clinical 

commissioning group and credited to the General Fund.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2014-15

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 782 773 9 709 707 2 73 66 7

Social security costs 74 74 0 67 67 0 7 7 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 109 109 0 105 105 0 4 4 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 965 956 9 881 879 2 84 77 7

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 965 956 9 881 879 2 84 77 7

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 965 956 9 881 879 2 84 77 7

Employee Benefits Prior-year 2013-14

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

Employee Benefits £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 743 741 2

Social security costs 59 59 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 79 79 0

Other pension costs 0 0 0

Other post-employment benefits 0 0 0

Other employment benefits 0 0 0

Termination benefits 0 0 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 881 879 2

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

The clinical commissioning group had no recoveries in respect of employee benefits during 2014/15 (2013/14: nil).

4.2 Average number of people employed

2013-14

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number

Total 17 17 0.2 14

The CCG does not have any staff engaged on capital projects.

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements

2014-15 2013-14

Number Number

Total Days Lost 33 16

Total Staff Years 19 17

Average working Days Lost 2 0

The 2013/14 sickness figures are for the period April - December 2013

The 2014/15 sickness figures are for the period January - December 2014

The clinical commissioning group had no ill health retirement costs during 2014/15 (2013/14: nil).

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
The clinical commissioning group had no exit packages during 2014/15 (2013/14: nil).

Admin ProgrammeTotal

2014-15
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 

provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 

direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 

identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 

participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that 'the period between formal valuations shall be four 

years, with approximate assessments in intervening years'.  An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an 

actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 

period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes.  

The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with 

summary global member and accounting data.  In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant 

FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS 

Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 

website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its recent 

demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and 

consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.

4.5.3 Scheme Provisions

The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended 

to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:

-  The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last 

three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members 

who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the 

relevant pensionable service;

-  With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a 

maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules.  This new provision is known as 'pension commutation';

-  Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in 

retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.  From 2011/12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has 

been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI);

-  Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the Scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their 

duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year‟s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their 

annual pension for death after retirement is payable;

-  For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of 

the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer;

-  Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC‟s run by the Scheme‟s approved 

providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 535 451 84 436

Executive governing body members 429 429 0 445

Total gross employee benefits 964 880 84 881

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 10,796 4,366 6,430 10,388

Services from foundation trusts 259,619 0 259,619 256,412

Services from other NHS trusts 580 0 580 627

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 50,641 0 50,641 42,919

Chair and Non Executive Members 148 148 0 150

Supplies and services – clinical 962 0 962 816

Supplies and services – general 232 232 0 205

Consultancy services 45 45 0 34

Establishment 175 28 147 55

Transport 8 7 1 4

Premises 1,933 8 1,925 3,676

Impairments and reversals of receivables 19 0 19 0

Audit fees 96 96 0 98

Other non statutory audit expenditure

· Internal audit services 30 30 0 30

Prescribing costs 47,900 0 47,900 47,008

Pharmaceutical services 0 0 0 2

General ophthalmic services 0 0 0 73

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 0 0 0 893

Other professional fees excl. audit 278 278 0 184

Grants to other public bodies 400 0 400 400

Clinical negligence 5 5 0 5

Education and training 86 33 53 42

Provisions 252 0 252 0

CHC Risk Pool contributions 537 0 537 0

Other expenditure 5 0 5 41

Total other costs 374,747 5,276 369,471 364,062

Total operating expenses 375,711 6,156 369,555 364,943
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 5,876 55,888 6,115 43,591

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 5,764 54,299 5,879 43,151

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.09% 97.16% 96.14% 98.99%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 2,139 271,065 1,413 266,931

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,124 270,819 1,398 266,842

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.30% 99.91% 98.94% 99.97%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

During 2014/15, the clinical commissioning group had no late payment of Commercial Debts.

7 Income Generation Activities

The clinical commissioning group does not undertake any income generation activities.

8. Investment revenue

The clinical commissioning group does not have any investment revenue as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

9. Other gains and losses

The clinical commissioning group does not have any other gains and losses as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

10. Finance costs

The clinical commissioning group does not have any finance costs as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

The clinical commissioning group has no net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

12. Operating Leases

12.1 As lessee

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2014-15 2013-14

Land Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 0 1,914 9 1,923 3650

Total 0 1,914 9 1,923 3,650

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2014-15 2013-14

Land Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:

No later than one year 0 35 11 46 78

Between one and five years 0 70 16 86 228

After five years 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 105 27 132 306

12.2 As lessor

The clinical commissioning group has no lessor rental revenue.

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership's Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years 

has not yet been agreed . Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

The clinical commissioning group does not have any property, plant or equipment as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

14 Intangible non-current assets

The clinical commissioning group had no intangible assets as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

15 Investment property

The clinical commissioning group had no investment property as at 31 March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

16 Inventories

The clinical commissioning group had no inventories as at 31 March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

17  Trade and other receivables Current Current

Assets Assets

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 265 786

NHS prepayments and accrued income 555 0

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 249 204

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 33 9

Provision for the impairment of receivables (19) 0

VAT 16 11

Operating lease receivables 0 8

Other receivables 0 1

Total Trade & other receivables 1,099 1,019

Total current and non current 1,099 1,019

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

By up to three months 8 0

By three to six months 0 0

By more than six months 4 0

Total 12 0

£8,213.52 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

17.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 0 0

(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired (19) 0

Balance at 31 March 2015 (19) 0

2014-15 2013-14

Receivables are provided against at the following rates:

NHS debt 0% 0%

Non NHS - 1 specific case £19k 100% provision 8% 0%
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18 Other financial assets

The clincial commissioning group had no other financial assets as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

19 Other current assets

The clinical commissioning group had no other current assets as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

20 Cash and cash equivalents

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 147 0

Net change in year 26 147

Balance at 31 March 2015 173 147

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 173 147

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 173 147

Balance at 31 March 2015 173 147

21 Non-current assets held for sale

The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals

The clinical commissioning group had no impairments or reversals of impairments recognised in expenditure in 2014/15 (2013/14: nil).
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Current Current

Assets Assets

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 591 942

NHS accruals and deferred income 3,869 3,016

Non-NHS payables: revenue 696 6,254

Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 14,644 7,873

Social security costs 14 0

Tax 19 0

Other payables 95 156

Total Trade & Other Payables 19,928 18,241

Other payables include £22,630 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015.

24 Other financial liabilities

The clinical commissioning group had no other financial liabilities as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

25 Other liabilities

The clinical commissioning group had no other liabilities as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

The clinical commissioning group had no borrowings as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements

28 Finance lease obligations

The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease obligations as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

29 Finance lease receivables

The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease receivables as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

23 Trade and other payables

In 2013/14, Non-NHS Accruals were mapped to Non-NHS payables: revenue. For 2014/15, NHS England has 

remapped these codes to Non-NHS accruals and deferred income.

26 Borrowings

The clinical commissioning group had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements that were 

excluded from the SoFP as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).
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30   Provisions

Current Current

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Continuing Healthcare 252 0

Total 252 0

Total current and non-current 252 0

Continuing 

Healthcare Total

£000s £000s

Balance at 1 April 2014 0 0

Arising during the year 252 252

Balance at 31 March 2015 252 252

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 252 252

Balance at 31 March 2015 252 252
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31 Contingencies

The clinical commissioning group had no contingiences as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

32 Commitments

32.1 Capital commitments

The clinicial commissioning group had no capital commitments as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

32.2 Other financial commitments

33 Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.3 Liquidity risk

The clinicial commissioning group had no non-cancellable contracts (which were not leases, PFI contracts or other service concession 

arrangements) as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. 

The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed 

for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning 

Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 

disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted 

annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing 

the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 

by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 

companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest 

surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks 

facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the 

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 

being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning 

Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd

33.2 Financial assets

Loans and 

Receivables Total

2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000

Receivables:

·          NHS 266 266

·          Non-NHS 249 249

Cash at bank and in hand 173 173

Other financial assets 0 0

Total at 31 March 2015 687 687

Loans and 

Receivables Total

2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000

Receivables:

·          NHS 786 786

·          Non-NHS 204 204

Cash at bank and in hand 147 147

Other financial assets 1 1

Total at 31 March 2014 1,138 1,138

33.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total

2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000

Payables:

·          NHS 4,461 4,461

·          Non-NHS 15,433 15,433

Total at 31 March 2015 19,894 19,894

Other Total

2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000

Payables:

·          NHS 3,958 3,958

·          Non-NHS 14,127 14,127

Total at 31 March 2014 18,085 18,085
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34 Operating segments

The clinical commissioning group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

35 Pooled budgets

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Income 709 719

Expenditure 591 513

Net Underspend 118 206

36 NHS Lift investments

The clinical commissioning group had no NHS Lift investments as at 31st March 2015.

37 Intra-government and other balances

Current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 16 406

·          Local Authorities 92 1,747

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 750 277

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 70 4,184

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 820 4,461

·          Bodies external to Government 171 13,313

Total balances at 31 March 2015 1,099 19,927

Current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 11 0

·          Local Authorities 197 2,822

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 462 122

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 324 3,836

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 786 3,958

·          Bodies external to Government 25 11,461

Total balances at 31 March 2014 1,019 18,241

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial 

year were:
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38 Related party transactions

Governing Body member Dates Related Party

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ali Wilson 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 Academic Health Science Network for the North East & North Cumbria Ltd12 0 0 0

Dr Bhadresh Contractor 01/04/2014 - 31/12/2014 Woodbridge Practice 120 0 53 0

Dr Bhadresh Contractor 01/04/2014 - 31/12/2014 Virgin Healthcare Stockton 1,334 0 176 0

Dr Bhadresh Contractor 01/04/2014 - 31/12/2014 Thornaby & Barwick Medical Group (Crestdown Ltd) 94 0 14 0

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 Havelock Grange Practice 55 0 22 0

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 Virgin Healthcare Hartlepool 1,449 0 64 0

Dr Mike Smith 01/04/2014 - 31/10/2014 Bank House Surgery Hartlepool 39 0 12 0

Dr Nick Timlin 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 McKenzie House Surgery 146 0 13 0

Dr Paul Williams 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 A & B Medical Practice 30 0 0 0

Dr Paul Williams 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 Catalyst Stockton on Tees Ltd 754 0 0 0

Dr Paul Williams 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 Arrival Practice 22 0 0 0

Dr Paul Williams 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council 0 0 20 0

Ms Jean Golightly 01/04/2014 - 31/03/2015 NHS South Tees CCG 4,379 158 67 509

Dr David Hodges 01/01/2015 - 31/03/2015 Alma Medical Centre 71 0 7 0

Dr David Hodges 01/01/2015 - 31/03/2015 Queen Park Medical Centre 146 0 20 0

• NHS England (including North of England Commissioning Support Unit);

• NHS Foundation Trusts;

• NHS Trusts;

• NHS Litigation Authority; and,

• NHS Business Services Authority.

• NHS Property Services.

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material 

transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local 

government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council and Hartlepool Borough Council.
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39 Events after the end of the reporting period

40 Losses and special payments

40.1 Losses

Total 

Number of 

Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

Total Number 

of Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

Number £'000 Number £'000

Administrative provision 1 19 0 0

Fruitless payments 0 0 1 4

Total 1 19 1 4

Although a bad debt provision has been provided for in 2014/15, we are continuing to pursue this liability.

40.2 Special payments

The clinical commissioning group had no losses and special payments cases during 2014/15 (2013/14: nil).

41 Third party assets

The clinical commissioning group had no third party assets as at 31st March 2015 (as at 31st March 2014: nil).

42 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

Target Performance Target Performance

£000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure not to exceed income 385,336 375,478 371,493 364,255

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 385,336 375,478 371,493 364,255

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 0 0 0 0

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 7,391 6,157 7,140 5,677

43 Impact of IFRS

Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the clinical commssioning group during the 2014/15 financial year (2013/14: nil).

44 Analysis of charitable reserves

The clinical commissioning group had no charitable reserves as at 31st March 2015 (2013/14: nil).

The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning group or 

consolidated group.
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